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SERVICE WITH

THE SIXTH WISCONSIN VOLUNTEERS.

By RuUrus R. DAwES,
A

BreVET BricADIER GENERAL U. S. VOLUNTEERS.

“IT can no longer be unfurled, and five bullets have pierced the
staff. Its tattered folds and splintered staff bear witness more
eloquently than words to the conduct of the men who have rallied
around it from Gainesville to Gettysburg.”

[Letter of R. R. Dawes, Licutcnant Colo'nel Commanding Sixth Wisconsin Volunteers, relurn-
ing this old color to the State of Wisconsin, August 4th, 1863 ]
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PREFACE.

With the hope that I may contribute something of value for
the history of one of the most faithful and gallant regiments in
the army of the Union, the Sixth Wisconsin Volunteers, and
with the especial object of preserving tor our children a record
of personal experiences in the war, this book has been published.

A box of old letters and papers, collected during the war and
carefully arranged and preserved by my wife, has been a chief
source from which I have drawn the subject matter.

Contemporary statements and opinions have not been changed.
In cases where subsequent knowledge disclosed an error, the
fact is noted.

Rurus R. DAwWES.

MARIETTA, OHIO, November 1oth, 189o0.

Wvidi' 724



To my wife who joined her destiny with my own
when I was a soldiler and thus becarme, tog'other with
myself, subject to the extreme perils of war, this book
1s affectionately dedicated.

RUFUS R. DAWES,
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COMPANY K.

“There’s a cap in the closet

0O1d, faded and blue,

Of very slight value, *
It may be, to you;

But a crown, jewel studded,
Could not buy it to-day

With its letters of honor,
‘Brave Company IK.””

CHAPTER I.

The Call for Volunteers—The Lemonweir Minute Men—Anxious
Haste to “Crush the Rebellion”—Provoking Delays—Captain
Balfour’s Opinion—Assigned to the Seventh Wisconsin—A
Poster-Ordered Into Quarters—Called to the Sixth Regiment
—Reception at Camp Randall-Company K Better IKnown
as Q—Officers of the Sixth—] Discover That I Have a Servant
—We are Uniformed in Gray—Mustered Into U. S. Service—Bull
Run—To the Front—The Glorious Passage East—Miss Ander-
son—The March Through Baltimore—Attacked by Plug Uglies
—Lieutenant Kellogg in the Battle of Patterson Park—On to
Washington—Kalorama Heights—Our Brass Band—First Sight
of General McClellan.

Fort Sumpter was fired upon, and recognizing the full import
of that event, on the fifteenth day of April 1861, President Abra-
ham Lincoln issued his proclamation calling for seventy-five
thousand volunteers to suppress the rebellion by force of arms.
This first bugle call of war found the author of this book in the
sparsely settled County of Juneau in the State of Wisconsin.
I was then twenty-two years of age, and had come out of college
with the class of 1860. With the proclamation of the President
came the announcement that the quota of the State of Wiscon-
sin would be only one small infantry regiment of seven hundred
and eighty men. It seemed quite evident that only by
prompt action I might secure what was then termed the “glorious
privilege” of aiding in crushing the Rebellion, which undertaking



it had been estimated by * one in high authority, could be
accomplished in sixty days. It is pleasant to remember that at
that day few questions were raised as to the rates of compensa-
tion for service, and so remote a contingency as realizing upon
the promise of a pension was not considered. Nothing beyond
the opportunity to go was asked. What seemed to most concern
our patriotic and ambitious young men was the fear that some
one else would get ahead and crush the Rebellion before they
got there. Drawing up the following pledge and signing it, I
began the work of gathering Volunteers on the twenty-fifth day
of April 1861. '

“We, the undersigned, agree to organize an independent
military company, and to hold ourselves in readiness to respond
to any call to defend our country and sustain our government.”
It will be noted that the service offered was not limited to three
months but was for “any call.”

Forty-eight signers were secured as the result of my first day’s
work. Then John A. Kellogg, the Prosecuting Attorney of the
county, would not be denied the privilege of signing my paper
and joining with me in the work of raising a company of
Volunteers. I argued with Kellogg, who was ten years my
senior and a married man, that young men, without families,
could crush the Rebellion, but he could not brook the thought of
being deprived of sharing in the satisfaction and glory of that
service, and feeling that this would be his only chance, he
joined ingthe work of making up the company with the utmost
zeal.

On the thirtieth day of April one hundred men, who had
agreed to volunteer, met in Langworthy’s Hall, in the village of
Mauston, the county seat, to organize the company. There was
no contest for the positions of Captain and First Lieutenant.
But for the other offices there was active competition, and the
meeting assumed something of the aspect of a political
convention. After a discussion in which Badgers and other
typical beasts and birds were considered for an appropriate name,
we adopted the mellifluous title of “The Lemonweir Minute
Men” from the peaceful and gently flowing river, in the beautiful

* Wm. H. Seward,  Secretary of State, in President Lincoln’s Cabinet,

.
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valley of which most of our men resided. It would “remind us
of home” said one, and this argument carried the day.

Extracts from a letter written to my sister in Ohio will serve
to illustrate the spirit of these times and of this occasion. Their
zeal might have been tempered had they known more of war,
but a purer impulse of patriotism never burned in the souls of
men, than that which inspired the unmercenary Volunteers of

1861.
Mavuston, JuNeAU Co., Wis. MAy 4th, 1861.

I have been so wholly engrossed with my work for the last
week or I should have responded sooner to your question: “Are
you going?” If a kind Providence and President Lincoln will
permit, I am. I am Captain of as good, and true a band of
patriots as ever rallied under the star spangled banner. We hope
to get into the third or fourth regiment, and if old Abe will but
give a fair and merited share in the struggle to Wisconsin, we
will see active service. The men expect and earnestly desire to
go, and wait impatiently their turn. I shall esteem it an honor,
worth a better life than mine, to be permitted to lead them in
this glorious struggle. I am in hourly dread of hearing of some
violence offered you on the border, and wish I might be permitted
to bring to you, in your peril, some as strong hands and as true
hearts as the Badger State can *boast.

STATE OF WISCONSIN, ADJUTANT GENERAL'S OFFICE.

MADISON, May 2nd, 1861.
CarraIN Rurus R. DAWES,
MAvusTON, JUNEAU COUNTY,
Dear Sir : Enclosed please find commissions for your

#This is what I had heard from home. Letter from my mother dated
Marietta, Ohio, April 28, 1861 :

“Governor Dennison has sent six eannon and two eompanies of the
regular army to Marietta. Your Uncle (William P. Cutler) has not joined
the Silver Greys for he will have to go to Congress in two months. He is
one of the Committee of Safety. Business is prostrated, yet the people are
hopeful and seem determined at all hazards to sustain the Government.
Provisions here are abundant and cheap. The excitement is so great and
s0 entirely engrossing that all other subjects are dismissed. People
recognize the hand of God in these things and feel thankful that the North
is right. To-day at church the soldiers marched in and took the front
seats. What a sight for Marietta! The Ohio river perhaps will be the
border. Before the end of the week there will be thousands of troops
quartered in Marietta. I despair of giving you any idea of the excited state
of things here.”
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company. You will be registered in your regular order, and
called on when reached. Until further orders you will make no
expenses on account of the State.

Very Respe_ctfully Yours,

. Wu. L. UrLey, Adjutant General.
Commissions enclosed :
Rufus R. Dawes, . : A Captain.
John A. Kellogg, . . : . First Lieutenant.
John Crane, . 2 . Second Lieutenant.

The question of getting into active service now absorbed
the minds of all, and great anxiety and impatience was displayed
lest we should not be called, or other companies, later organized,
should be preferred. On May 16th, I wrote to my brother, E. C.
Dawes, then a student in college in Ohio, “I am working like a
beaver to get my company into active service. We sent John
Turner, (an influential citizen,) to Madison to see the Governor.
I have a hundred men upon the muster roll. I have quite a
number of raftsmen from the pineries. To endure the hardships
of actual service none could be better fitted. Campaigning in
the field would be a luxury in comparison to logging in the
winter in the pineries. I don’t believe there can be better
soldiers.”

During this period of doubt and anxiety, I found comfort in
the judgment of one Captain Balfour, of Mauston. He differed
from the general opinion as to the serious magnitude of the
coming war. He was an old gentleman who had served as a
Captain in the British army. He had been through campaigns
in Spain and was present at the burial of Sir John Moore. He,
and other young officers, he informed me, had taken turns in
sitting on the throne of Spain which had been abandoned by
Joseph Bonaparte, when Wellington’s army had entered Madrid.

His wife, a hale and bright old lady, had been with him in
these campaigns, serving as vivandiere of his regiment. Captain
Balfour, then over eighty years-of age, said “Don’t fret, young
man, your company will be needed. Those Southern people are
determined upon war. It will take years to put them down.
You'll see, you'll see! You have no Wellingtons or Napoleons
in this country, and next to no experience in war. ‘This is no
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job of sixty days.” I constanily advised with this venerable
soldier who gave me excellent counsel and suggestions of
practical value, drawn fiom a long experience in field service.

Two weeks more passed away, much exciting news coming
from Ohio,* and on the second of June, I find tlre following
report of the condition of our affairs in a letter to my sister.
“At present the prospect seems very good for cur company
remaining at home a month or two yet. We have been assigned
to the seventh regiment. Six regimeuts are now under pay and
the seventh will be called into camp when the fifth is mustered
into the United States service. The first four regiments have
already been mustered in. It is perhaps befter to be so, though
a severe trial to our patience. I went to Madison to see Governor
Randall and the Adjutant General, but could get no higher on
the list. Wisconsin has twelve regiments already, and we are
well up to be in the seventh.” On the 1oth of June I write: “The
first six regiments are now accepted by the General Government,
and I expect to be ordered into quarters. I think we will be in
ample time to go with the grand expedition down the Mississippi
and hold a merry Christmas in New Orleans. ‘This delay will
make some hard work, recruiting to fill vacancies, but I can have
a full company. George W. Bird and William F. Vilas are
looking after my interests at Madison.” These gentlemen had
been old friends and college associates at the Wisconsin State
University.

*Marietta had now become a Camp for the troops that made up the army
for the campaign in West Virginia. From my mother:

MarierTA, OHIO, May 27th, 1861.

“All of the first ladies in the city have given their names to nurse or
furnish supplies for the sick. As yet we have no system, but hope to get
organized in a day or two. The hospital is an old brick building near the
Fajr ground. There are thirty-nine sick men there to-day, and they are
far from comfortable. But the Citizens are sending in things every day and .
we shall soon get fixed. Most of the men are sick with the measles. There
is one case of typhoid fever. Another regiment (18th Ohio) came in to-day.
Everybody is making bandages, lint, and Havelock caps. L——— has
made five and a half dozens of plasters of mutton tallow, spread on linen
rags, four inches square and done up neatly in oiled silk, very acceptable,
the surgeons say.” Such were the preparations for war in 1861.
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Exrcurive OFFICE, MADISON, JUNE 14th, 1861.
CapraIN R. R. DAwES, LEMONWEIR MINUTE MEN,
MavusTON, JUNEAU COUNTY.
Sizr: ‘The Governor desires to know whether your company
is now full to at least eighty-three mien for three years or the
war. Quite a number of the companies on our Register fail to
muster full at the appointed day. You will oblige by replying to
this letter at the earliest day possible, and stating a day on or
after whickh you can stand ready to meet a mustering officer with
a full company. We expect to send off the first six regiments
within four weeks, and two more will then be called into camp
and equipped. :
. Yours Respectfully,
W. H. WarTson, Mil. Sec’y.
A Poster:
RarLy!
Bovs, RarLLy!! Rarrv!!!
ENLISTMENTS WANTED FOR THE LEMONWEIR MINUTE MEN!
HeADQUARTERS I,. M. M., MAUSTON, JUNE 17th, 1861.
This company is ordered by the Commander in chief to hold
itself in readiness to be mustered into the service on Monday,
June 24th. Men are wanted to complete the full complement of
one hundred and one. Come forward, boys, and place your names
on the roll. R. R. Dawns, CAPTAIN.
To my sister on the 2oth of June, I write: “I am at present
tormented beyond measure by the delay in calling my company
together. The men are scattered over nearly a whole Congres-
sional district. Many influences operate now to deter and
discourage the men, and 1 fear they will order us into camp
without giving me time to collect my men or recruit for vacancies.
But I have one glorious satisfaction. We have a place certain
and nothing but the lack of a full company can stop us. I ride
and travel night and day. It will take a load off my shoulders
to have my men brought together.” “Your excellent advice and
the pin cushions will be very serviceable, and on behalf of the
company I return their thanks. Please say to Mrs. E. B.
Andrews that I appreciate highly my pin cushion made from
Kossuth’s vest.” Some ladies of Marietta, Ohio, had sent to me,
through my sister, one hundred pin cushions for my company.
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On the 29th of June came the welcome telegram, which was
received with the greatest enthusiasm, ordering us into quarters.
CapraiN R. R. Dawgs: You can board your company at
expense of the State at not more than two dollars and a half a
week, until further orders. It is possible that you may be
wanted for the sixth regiment.
W. H. Warson, Military Secretary.‘

On the 6th day of July, in compliance with orders, the
company, ninety-four men in all, took the cars for Madison to
join the sixth regiment. We had been assigned to that regiment
because of the failure of several other companies registered
higher on the list in the Adjutant General’s office. Our arrival,
therefore, as it completed the organization of the regiment, was
an event, increased in its interest and importance by the several
previous disappointments. I received a telegram from the
Colonel of the sixth regiment, while en route, asking the hour of
our arrival. Had I suspected the reception that was being
prepared for us, I think I should have entered protest. As we
approached Camp Randall that afternoon, the fifth and sixth
regiments, nearly two thousand men, were in line. of battle to
receive us with becoming state and ceremony. My company
had had practically no drill. “By the right flank, right face”
according to the Scott tactics, and “Forward march” was almost
the sum total of my own knowledge of military movements.
The men stumbled along in two ranks, kicking each other’s heels
as they gazed at the novel and imposing spectacle before them.
A few wore broadcloth and silk hats, more the red shirts of -
raftsmen, several were in country homespun, one had on a
calico coat, and another was looking through a hole in the
drooping brim of a straw hat. - I remember, also, that there were
several of those ugly white caps with long capes, called
“Havelocks.” ‘The men carried every variety of wvalise, and
every species of bundle, down to one shirt tied up in a red
handkerchief. My confusion may be imagined when I was met
at the gate way of Camp Randall by Frank A. Haskell, the
Adjutant of the sixth regiment, who was mounted on a spirited
charger, and quite stunning in his bright uniform and soldierly
bearing. With a military salute he transmitted an order from
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the Colonel “to form my company in column by platoon,” and to
march to Headquarters under escort of the Milwaukee Zouaves.
Hibbard’s Zouaves, (Co. B, 5thWisconsin,) was then considered the
best drilled company in the state. Their appearance in bright
Zouave uniform was fine. I answered Adjutant Haskell, “Good
afternoon, Sir. I should be glad to comply with the wishes of
the Colonel, but it is simply impossible.” So we took our own
gait in the direction of Headquarters. The maneuvres and the
yelling of the Zouaves, who engaged in one of their peculiar
drills, increased the distraction of my men, and they marched worse
than before. However, we got into line in front of Headquarters
and were briefly congratulated upon our arrival, in a few pertinent
remarks by Colonel Liysander Cutler. The Colonel informed us
.in his speech that we would be designated as Company “K.”
But in recognition of our grand entree, the camp had already
christened us Company “Q.”

Fortunately, our first essay in military evolution at the evening
dress parade, took place behind the backs of the regiment.
Adjutant Frank A. Haskell came to my relief, and of his
kinduess on that occasion I have an appreciative memory. The
fun he enjoyed in watching us, amply repaid his service. By our
designation as Company “K” we were brought in camp, and in
line, into close connection with Company “E,” an alliance which
proved congenial. ‘T'he Captain of that Company appeared to be
much gratified that a Captain had come in, who knew less than
he did about military matters. ‘Thus began an intimate
association, which lasted through three hard years of trial, in
which we were together. At this beginning of our acquaintance,
I think a fellow feeling made us wondrous kind. In politics and
law, Edward S. Bragg stood among the first men in his state, but
in military matters he had yet, as the Indians would say, *‘a heap
to know.” The sixth regiment was an exceptionally fine body
of officers and men, as their history may abundantly attest.
There were many of the officers of the line, already well qualified
by education and experience, for their duties. Company “A”
was commanded by Captain Adam G. Malloy, who had been a
soldier in the war with Mexico. His Company was being well
instructed, and he was ambitious that they should justify their
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selection as first upon the list. Company “C,” which had been
made the color company, was commanded by Captain A. S. Hooe,
whose father was a Major in the regular army. In that
association he had grown to thorough knowledge of the drill.
Company “F,” of Germans from Milwaukee, had two of the
most highly qualified officers with whom I met in all my service,
Lieutenant Schumacher and Lieutenant Werner von Bachelle,
Both had served in the armies of Europe, and as competent,
exact and thorough drill masters, they were no where to be
surpassed. It was to me an instructive pleasure to watch them
drill their companies. The . influence of this splendid company,
and its Lieutenants, was marked in stimulating others to equal
their performance. Both of these gallant men and model soldiers
were killed in battle for their adopted country. The Captain of
Company “H,” which was also composed principally of Germans,
was a character. He could, at that time, express himself only
with much difficulty in English, He was a tall and stalwart
soldier, rigid as a disciplinarian and exact as an instructor, as he
had been educated in the military school at Thun, Switzerland.
He had also served in European wars, and acted on the Staff of
General Garibaldi. One saying of Captain Hauser in Camp
Randall is memorable. Exasperated at his men who got into a
huddle, he shouted, “Vell, now you looks shust like one dam
herd of goose.” Lieutenant John F. Marsh of Company “B,”
had served in the war with Mexico, and there were other officers
of excellent qualification, among those upon the roster.*

*Colonel Lysander Cutler.

Lieutenant Colonel J. P. Atwood.

Major B. J. Sweet.
Surgeon, C. B. Chapman. Adjutant, Frank A. Haskell.
First Ass’t., A. W. Preston. Quartermaster, Isaac N. Mason.
Becond Ass’t., O. F. Bartlett.  Chaplain, N, A. Staples.

CAPTAINS, FirsT LIEUTENANTS, SECOND LIEUTENANTS.
Co. A, A.G. Malloy. D. K. Noyes. F. C. Thomas.
Co. B, D. J. Dill. J. F. Marsh. H. Serrill.
Co. C, A. S. Hooe. P. W. Plummer. T. W. Plummer.
Co. D John O’Rourke. John Nichol. P. H. McCauley.
Co. E E. S. Bragg. E. A. Brown. J. H. Marston.
Co. F W. H. Lindwurm. F. Schumacher. W. Von Bachelle.
Co. Gr M. A. Northrup. G. L. Montague. W. W. Allen.
Co. H J. F. Hauser. J. D. Lewis. J. T. Tester.
Co. 1, Teonard J. ohnson. F. A. Haskell. A. J. Johnson.
Co. K R. R. Dawes. J. A, Kellogg. Jno. Crane.
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On July oth, I reported progress in a letter to my sister as
follows:

“After two months of incessant, aggravating and provoking
labor, my company is in the sixth regiment. We came into
camp on Saturday evening last and we are now under the severest
kind of drill. We were at first quartered in barracks, and given
old straw in which there was no scarcity of fleas, but last night
we moved into our tents. My men are not more than half
supplied with blankets, and, as we have cold drizzling weather,
they have suffered. Itisa new life to us all, but I hope we can get
broken in without much sickness. I am studying up on tactics,
drilling and attending to the business of the company, so that I
have very little time to see my old friends in Madison.”
About this time we received from the State of Wisconsin
payment for our services. To our surprise and gratification
we were instructed to make up our pay roll from May
ard., the date of our commissions. I remember that when I
took my pay roll to that excellent gentleman, Simeon Mills, the
Paymaster, he said, “I see, Captain, that you have omitted to put
in your servant.” I said, “I have no servant.” Mr. Mills said, “I
think you certainly have, as the Regulations require it.” Seeing
that he knew more about the subject than I did, I made no
further objection to a servant’s going on the pay roll. This was
oue of the farces of our military system. My treacherous
memory forbids my recording here, whether my servant was
described as having green eyes and red hair or red eyes and green
hair ; but I think the old pay roll will disclose a very remarkable
descriptive list of this imaginary person. A Captain of infantry
had sixty dollars per month as pay and sixty-eiglit dollars per
month as “allowances.” Thirteen dollars per month and thirty
cents per day (ome ration) was allowed for a servant, and one
dollar and twenty cents (four rations) was allowed for
subsistence. But the Captain was obliged to certify that he had
a servant, and to describe him. Few Captains had servants, but
all had one hundred and twenty-eight dollars per month.

Our regiment, strange to say, was uniformed by the State of
Wisconsin in the color of the Confederacy, gray. These gray
uniforms were of honest and excellent material, and we
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exchanged them with regret a few months later for the sleazy,
shoddy blue, we received from the general government, at that
early period in the war.

The question which absorbed the most attention next in Camp
Randall, was the impending muster into the United States service.
As the day approached, I found it was inevitable that I should
lose four men, who could not or who would not be mustered in.
One was too old, one was too young, one showed that he had
no idea of going with us, and the last one had a presentiment
that he would be killed. I labored with this last man, for he
was a strong, hearty, good fellow, but he said that in a dream he
had seen himself killed. ‘This seemed absurd, but I had to let
him go. Later in the war this man enlisted in a Wisconsin
Cavalry regiment, and served his term without a scratch. Captain
Bragg asked me if I did not want two of his men. I was
anxious to muster in as mauy as possible, and did want badly two
men. He said that one of Lis men wanted to serve his country
as a fifer and the other as a drummer. The fifer could not fife,
neither could the drummer drum. But none of my men in
Company “K” could perform such service, and they were all
desirous to serve as soldiers in the line. There seemed nothing
in the way of this arrangement to swell my ranks by two, and so
I took them in. Captain Bragg got nothing for his men, but he
settled -perplexing questions about the music in Company “E.”

We were musiered into the service of the United States for
the term of three years, unless soomner discharged, on the 16th
day of July, 1861. The regiment mustered in ten hundred and
forty-five men. In my company ninety-two men were mustered.
In giving these figures, I follow the authority of my own
contemporary letter.

Referring again to the old bundle of letters, carefully preserved
by my sister, who herself, long years ago, passed away from us, I
find that the movement of our army towards Bull Run, in
Virginia, which was then in progress, aroused our expectation of
moving Eastward. I find, also, that upon the occasion of the
presentation by the State, of colors to the fifth and sixth
regiments, there was a grand celebration and jollification at
Camp Randall. There were about six thousand visitors present.



16

A fine supper, the gift of the ladies of Dane County, was served
to both regiments in the dining hall. The camp was beautifully
decorated, and no grounds were mneater or more tastefully
adorned than those of Company “K.” To our First Sergeant,
David L. Quaw, is chiefly due the credit.

My next letter is dated at Camp Cutler near Harrisburg,
Pennsylvania, August ist. ‘“The disastrous affair at Bull Run
caused us to be ordered this way. Our journey through from
Madison to Harrisburg was like a triumphal marech. Men,
women and children, crowded in hundreds and thousands at
every town and city, to hail us and to cheer us on our way to
help rescue the down trodden flag. This shows how the people
are aroused. At Milwaukee an abundant table was spread for us.
At Racine, Kenosha, and Chicago the haversacks of our men
were crammed with every delicacy. We came through by the
way of the Pittsburg, Ft. Wayne and Chicago, and Pennsylvania
Central Rail Roads. The trip was full of exciting and pleasing
incidents. At Cresson, on the Allegheny Mountains, we met
the family of Major Robert Anderson. You may be sure the
Badger boys made the mountains ring with cheers for the
daughters of the hero of Fort Sumpter. His oldest daughter is
a very handsome young lady. The enclosed sprig please keep
for me till the wars are over, as it was presented to me by Miss
Anderson in acknowledgement of our compliment to her father.
We expect to go from here to Harper’s Ferry and will probably
be attached to Gen. Banks’ Division. The rebels are said to be
advancing on Harper’s Ferry. We therefore expect a fight in a
few days. I wish my men were better drilled.”

The question was raised, why Miss Anderson passed our old
Colonel by and presented this little token to the youngest
Captain in the line. It was wholly due to the superior lung
power of Company “K.”

We did move from Harrisburg, but it was not to Harper's
Ferry nor to fight the enemy, for the next letter is from
Baltimore. “We are encamped in Patterson Park, a beautiful
grove overlooking the city, the bay, Fort McHenry and a broad
extent of finely cultivated farms. We marched several miles
through the streets of Baltimore last night, without arms. We
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were escorted by two hundred armed police. Our boys were well
supplied with brick bats. The rebel Plug Uglies commenced an
attack on Bragg’s Company, “E,” which marched just in front of
my company, but it was promptly suppressed by the police.
The streets were jammed with people, as we marched, and the
excitement was very great. The sentiments expressed were
spitefully hostile. There is a slumbering Volcano in Baltimore
ready to break out at any success of the Rebellion. Your
imagination cannot picture with what unction they would roll
under their tongues such morsels as, “Bull Run you blue
bellies!” “How do you like Bull Run?” “It was Yankees Run.”
We have come into a different atmosphere. I hope we may
remain here awhile. We need drill badly* and our present

8*‘Muster Roll of Company “K,” 6th Wisconsin Volunteers, in August,
61.

Rufus R. Dawes.
. John A. Kellogg.
John Crane.

Captain, . E
First Lieutenant
Second Lieutenant,

SERGEANTS.

First Serg’t, David L. Quaw. Second Serg’t, Linnaeus Westcott.
Third Serg’t, Eugene P. Rose. Fourth Serg’t, H. H. Edwards.
Fifth Serg’t, John Ticknor.

W. N. Remington,
Franklin Wilcox,
Oliver Fletcher,!

A.J. Atwell,

Charles A. Abbott,
Charles A. Alton,
Daniel D. Alton,
Eu§ene Anderson,
William Anderson,
Alonzo Andress.
James L. Barney,
Ira Butterfield,
Frederick Boynton,
Ralph Brown,
John Carsley,

Geo. Chamberlain,
Joseph A. Chase,
Thomas Cleveland,
Ephraim Cornish,
George W. Covey,
Chas. A. Crawford,
John A. Crawford,

CORPORALS.

W. S. Campbell,
Wm. H. Van Wie,

Musiciaxns.

PRIVATE SOLDIERS.

‘Wm. Garland,
Jacob Garthwait,
S. Frank Gordon,
Cassius Griggs,
Henry Gallup,
William Hancock,
William Harrison,
PeterHelmer,
Cyrus Hendrick,
Edward Hendrick,
Israel Hendrick,
Thomas S. Hills,
Llewellyn Hills,
Volney Holmes,
James W. Knapp,
Bernard McEwen,
Daniel J. Miller,
E. Mitchell,

Reuben Huntley,
John Holden,
Thomas Flynn.

E. G. Jackson.

James W. 8coville,
Edward Simons,
Erastus Smith,
Cyrus Spooner,
William Stevens,
John St. Clair,
James P. Sullivan,
Hugh Talty,
Albert Tarbox,
Silas Temple,
Charles M. Taylor,
A. R. Thompson,
John R. Towle,
Hoel Trumble,
Lyman B. Upham,
Richard Upham,
William Valleau,
Stephen Whicher,
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situation is all that could be desired. We are very closely
confined in camp. No commissioned officer can leave without a
pass from the Colonel. There is plenty of money in the
regiment now, gold and silver. Our old Colonel Cutler is a
very strict disciplinarian, and will tolerate no nonsense. He was
Colonel of a regiment in Maine in the Aroostook war. Queer
as it now sounds, the boast of our Colonel’s military record was
in serious earnest.

Camp ATwooD, PATTERSON PARK, August, 5th 1861.

“Qur camp was attacked about midnight by the Plug Uglies of
Baltimore. A fire was opened on our Guards, who promptly
replied, and the bullets whistled occasionally through the camp.
Several companies were turned out and quiet soon restored.
Fortunately none of our men were struck.” ‘This little aftair
was our first contact with rebels who would shoot. In some
respects it was a very laughable experience. When the firing
began, which was after midnight, I formed my men in the
company street and loaded up with brick bats. We had no guns.
Companies “A” and “B” only had been armed as yet, and they
were on guard duty contending with the foe. I sent Lieutenant
Kellogg to the Colonel for instructions. This was super
serviceable as the Colonel would have sent for us if he had needed
our brick bats. Lieutenant Kellogg wandered around in the dark
night and found the Colonel in the back part of the camp where
the firing was the hottest. What instructions he received we
never learned, as he fell into a dreadful hole in his reckless rush
to bring them to us, and his condition of body and mind was
such that he did nothing but swear a blue streak about his own
mishap. With us the tragedy ended with a roaring farce. Lieut.
Kellogg was of quick blood and it was not always safe to
congratulate him as the only man wounded in the Battle of
Patterson Park.

W. R. Davis, Alex. Noble, Charles West,

‘Willard Dutton, Andrew J. Nott, Chauncey Wilcox,
Thomas Ellsworth, William Patterson, Arlon F. Winsor,

A. G. Emmons, Lorenzo Pratt, Samuel O. Woods,

R. W. Emmons, Waitstell Ranney, Aaron Yates,

Abram Fletcher, James Rodgers, VolneyDeJean, Wagoner.

Dennis Fuller, Charles Reynolds,
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While we were at Patterson Park we were under the Command
of General John A. Dix.

On the seventh day of August we moved on to Washington.
The order came while the regiment was engaged in the evening
Dress Parade, and it was received with enthusiasm. *Qur orders
were to move at once, and there was hurrying in hot haste.
The regiment had been armed, while at Patterson Park, with
Belgian muskets, a heavy, clumsy gun, of large caliber, and not
to be compared with the Springfield rifled musket. We again
marched through the streets of Baltimore at night. Our muskets
were loaded and my letter says, ‘“at half cock,” and we received
from all citizens the compliment of respectful silence. We
started about midnight, in filthy cattle cars, and reached
Washington City at daylight. We marched to the City Hall
Park, and, late in the day to Meridian Hill, where we established
our camp, a few rods from Columbia College, then being used as
a hospital for the wounded from the Bull Run battle. This camp,
called Kalorama, was, as indicated by its classic name, indeed
beautiful for situation and for its magnificent view of the Capitol
and the city. But the three weeks spent there were a great
trial. ‘There were in my company twenty-five men sick with the
measles, and the other companies were in like manner severely
scourged. The weather was intensely hot and the water was
not good. Melons were freely sold in camp, and a general run of
sickness was the result beyond our measles. On August fifteenth,
we had in Company “K” thirty-five reported sick and unfit for
duty. On August twenty-third, a more cheerful condition
prevailed, as I write as follows to my sister:

“My men are getting through with theif measles, and I hope
to soon have out full ranks. We are drilling every day and
improving rapidly. It is announced that we are soon to be
reviewed by President Lincoln and Gen. George B. McClellan.”

To my brother on August twenty-fourth, I wrote from Camp
Kalorama :

“We are here at Washington yet, and I think likely to stay a

*General Dix says he had “telegraphic orders’ to send General Rufus
King and the two Wisconsin regiments (5th and 6th,) to Washington.
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week or so. We were reviewed yesterday by the Brigadier,
(Rufus King,) and our regiment never before appeared so meanly.
It was enough to try the patience of a martyr, the performance
of that contemptible brass band of ours. They played such slow
time music that we passed the reviewing officer at about
forty-seven paces a minute. We had to hold one leg in the air
and balance on the other while we waited for the music. By the
way, old Kanouse belongs to this band. He is sick, and I do not
wonder at it. He goes along, pumping up and down on a big
toot horn. He wants to get out of the band. I should think he
would, for if a man in the regiment is caught in a rascally trick,
the whole regiment yells, ‘Put him in the brass band.””” ‘Theodore
D. Kanouse, who was an old college friend at the Wisconsin
State University, oiten came to my quarters, and his witty
comments upon the infelicity of his service in the band, were a
source of amusement. He said he had undertaken to crush the
Rebellion with a trombone and, willing to admit his own failure,
he hoped the Government would not rely wholly upon its brass
bands to accomplish that result. ‘“As the regiment is at present
organized, X am junior Captain in the fourth division, (Companies
‘B’ and ‘K’). Captain Edward S. Bragg, of Company‘ E,’ is
rated as my senior. I really rank him though, by the date of
my commission, and I propose to. have this thing corrected.*
Twice yesterday, on that ridiculous review, I gave orders when
Bragg was at fault. Captain Bragg, though, is the brightest man
in the regiment. He was a delegate to the Democratic National
Conventions at Charleston and Baltimore. It is highly
entertaining to hear him relate his experiences. Our Colonel
(Liysander Cutler) is rigid in his discipline, and stern and
unflinching in exacting the performance of all duties, and I
believe will prove of determined courage. Frank A. Haskell is
one of the best Adjutants in the army.” Frank A. Haskell
exercised at that time a marked influence wupon the
progress of the regiment in soldierly knowledge and quality.
He was an educated gentleman, a graduate of Dartmouth College.
He had belonged to the Governor’s Guard, a military company at
the Capitol of Wisconsin, and had been drawn by natural tastes

*Youthful vapor.
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to some study of military tactics. Haskell had been born with
every quality that goes to make a model soldier. He took great
interest and pride in the instruction of the regiment, and so
elevated his office, that some men then thought the Adjutant
must at least be next to the Colonel in authority and rank. It
was a good instruction in the school of a soldier to serve a tour
of duty in the regimental guard. One especial and untiring effort
of Adjutant Haskell was to exact cleanliness and neatness of
personal appearance, an essential condition of true soldierly
bearing. The cotton gloves, which he required the men to wear,
were kept snow white, nor did he allow them to cover dirty
hands. It was a dread ordeal for a man to step four paces in
front and face the Adjutant before the assembled guard and in
fear of this he went there clean at however great and unusual a
sacrifice of customary habit. ‘T'o see Haskell, “About face” and
salute the Colonel before the regiment when we were on dress
parade was an object lesson in military bearing.

On the twenty-sixth of August there was a general review of
all the troops encamped on Meridian Hill. General George B.
McClellan was the reviewing officer, and this was our first
introduction. On that day I wrote to my sister:

“The General is a splendid looking man, just in the prime of
life. ‘The boys are all carried away with enthusiasm for him.
Our Brigade is as well drilled as any I have seen, and is made up
as follows: 2nd Wisconsin, sth Wisconsin, 79th New York
(Highlanders, uniformed in kilts), 32ud Pennsylvania, 2nd New
York, (Fire Zouaves) and the 6th Wisconsin. General McClellan
pronounced our regiment one of the best in material, appearance
and bearing. We expect and hope to be in the first advance and
this opinion expressed by the commander of the army is, I think,
an earnest of things hoped for. ‘The s5th Wisconsin—Colonel
Amasa Cobb—is a fine regiment. The New Vork Fire Zouaves,
the 79th Highlanders, and the 69th New York seem to be
drunken rowdies. The 14th and 15th Massachusetts are the
most neatly uniformed, the best equipped, the best provided for,
and the best drilled regiments I have seen. ILast night we had
considerable excitement on account of an order to be ready to
march at a moment’s notice.”
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BivouAc NEAR CHAIN BRIDGE, ON POTOMAC,
S1x MILES ABOVE WASHINGTON,
SEPTEMBER 8th, 1861.

“It is very difficult now for me to write at all, so do not be
alarmed at a little irregularity in my correspondence. We left
the old camp on Kalorama Heights, a week ago to-morrow night
(Sept. 2nd.)  Since then we have been moving around from one
place to another, wherever owyr presence has been deemed
necessaty. We left our tents, extra clothing, cooking utensils,
everything but one woolen blanket and one oil cloth. We sleep
on the ground with nothing above us but the canopy of heaven.
To intensify our discomfort, the weather has been cold and
rainy. ‘This is rather a hard road to travel, but I keep healthy,
hearty and happy, and feel better than when I first began to
sleep in a tent. Our regiment has been doing picket duty along
the Potomac river on the Maryland side from Chain Bridge to
Falling Waters. My company has been deployed along about
four miles. The rebel pickets and cavalry could be occasionally
seen along the other side of the river. I have really enjoyed
this week’s work. 'The scenery on the Potomac here, is very
romantic. The people generally sympathize with the rebels.
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Our boys have fared sumptuously every day. They declared
that even the pigs were secessionists and they burned them at
the sfeak for their treason. Turkeys and chickens shared the
same fate. It was impossible for me to restrain men who had
been starved on salt-beef and hard tack, when they were
scattered over four miles of territory and sneered at as Yankees
by the people. The fact is I ate some pig myself. ‘The present
bivouac of the regiment is within a few rods of the ruins of
Montgomery Hall, once, you know, General Washington’s
Headquarters. Across the river, opposite on a high hill, now the
site of a powerful battery, is the spot where Clay and Randolph
fought their duel.”

CaMP NEAR CHAIN BRIDGE, SEPTEMBER 20th, 1861,

To my brother: “You are anxious to know whether we have
any skirmishing. No. Our men are all at work constructing
forts and digging trenches. You want to know what it has cost
me to uniform. My sword, sash, and sword knot cost $35. My
blue dress uniform, thirty-three dollars, undress uniform,
seventeen dollars, and overcoat twenty-two dollars. ‘Then I was
fool enough to spend thirty dollars on gray, which is now of no
use. Buff vest cost four dollars, army shoes, six dollars, and cap
two dollars. My blue dress uniform turns red and is a
confounded cheat. My sash is. at least half cotton, and it is
rapidly fading. My scabbard is metal that tarnishes in half an
hour. The army is being terribly fleeced by the Washington
sharps. Fancy uniforms are useless sleeping in the mud. Frank
Haskell, our Adjutant, has been ?assigned to command of
Company ‘I' and P. W. Plummer of Company ‘C’ is acting as
Adjutant. If you are going to be an Adjutant, set to work at
once, learning how to ‘About face’ gracefully.”

CaMP NEAR CHAIN BRIDGE, SEPTEMBER 23td, 1861.
“The same ‘masterly inactivity’ is still the order of the day.
Beauregard is strenuously preparing himself for an attack by
McClellan.  McClellan keeps thousands of men building
fortifications to resist an attack by Beauregard. Yesterday from
the dome of the Capitol of the United States, with the aid of a
telescope, I distinctly saw the rebel flag waving on Munson’s

v
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Hill, six miles away. I could see a company of rebel soldiers
also. 'This is a sorry spectacle.”

The 5th Wisconsin regiment had been separated from us, and
attached to a brigade, which was commanded by a young
Brigadier who was yet unknown to fame, Gen. W. S. Hancock.
Hancock’s brigade was encamped at the opposite end of the
Chain Bridge in Virginia. The General had a voice like a
trumpet and we could hear him drilling his brigade. He would
give some such order as, “On first division, third battalion, deploy
column, quick, march!” and the regiments would proceed.
Colonel Cobb of the s5th Wisconsin, a civilian appointee, would
sometimes blunder, and we would hear in the same ringing, bell
like tones, “Colonel Cobb, where the — — nation are you going
with that battalion?”’ Amasa Cobb was a distinguished citizen
at home and this was a source of extreme amusement to our
men, some of whom would go down among the willows under
the bank of the river, and shout across in fine imitation of
General Hancock, ‘“Colonel Cobb, where the — — nation are
you going with that battalion?” “The men called this
performance, “Hancock whispering to his brigade.”

Camp LvoN, NEAR CHAIN BRIDGE, SEPTEMBER 29th, 1861.

To my brother: ‘“T‘he army of the Potomac is in high spirits
this morning. The Grand Army has moved forward and taken
possession of Munson Hill and the whole line of rebel outposts
without firing a gun. Our troops at the Chain Bridge did not
move forward, but we were up nearly all night, to be ready to
march at a moment’s notice. But as General McClellan will not
fight on Sunday, we do not now expect to move until to-morrow.
(Reference is here made to a general order issued by McClelian
in regard to inaugurating movements on Sunday. As he did not
inaugurate them on any other day, it was not of much
importance.) It is said that our brigade will go to the Arlington
House, and probably pitch tents there, and perhaps advance in
light marching order towards Fairfax Court House. It is said
that some of our regiments in the movements last night, fired on
each other, and that others, who were out of range but scared by
the noise, threw away their guns and ran. Colonel Atwood has
resigned, and Major B. J. Sweet has been promoted to Lieut.
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Colonel and our little Captain Bragg of Co. ‘E’ has been
promoted to Major. Companies ‘E’ and ‘K’ rejoice and are
exceeding glad, but one or two of our Captains are mad at
Bragg’s promotion. He is the best man and I am glad of his
advancement. ‘They say the Colonel would have preferred to
have Frank Haskell appointed Major, but Bragg captured
the Governor.* Our old Colonel is as rugged as a wolf, and the
regiment has great confidence in him, both as a man and an
officer. We have not been roughing it lately, but have been
living high. My Second Lieutenant has even struck up a
flirtation with a young lady in Georgetown. Crane is making a
fine young officer. He is one of the best instructors in the
manual of arms in the regiment.”
Camp NEAR Fort Cass, ARLINGTON HEIGHTS, VA,
; OCTOBER 6th, 1861.

“We crossed the Potomac yesterday by the Aqueduct Bridge at
Georgetown. We have joined the division commanded by Gen.
Irvin McDowell. The 7th Wisconsin has been substituted for
the 5th Wisconsin in our brigade. They have an old Dutch
Colonel named Van Dor. The 1gth Indiana regiment,
commanded by Colonel Solomon Meredith, is now in our
brigade.f We are encamped in the woods on the line of
fortifications which extends from Chain Bridge to Alexandria in
front of Washington, and near the Arlington House.”
; CAMP ARLINGTON, VA., OCTOBER 28th, 1861.

To my sister: “Ten officers] have left or been removed from

*This is camp chaff. Governor Alexander W. Randall, about that time,
visited our camp at Arlington and this circumstance probably gave rise to
such talk. .

tThus was originally made up the Iron Brigade of the Army of the
Potomac. The camp at Chain Bridge may be considered as the beginning
of the history of that body of troops, and this movement to Arlington
its first march. The regiments comprising the brigade were now, 2nd
Wisconsin, 6th Wisconsin, 7th Wisconsin and 19th Indiana, and these
regiments remained brigaded together till the close of the war. It was
fully a year from this time, however, before the brigade became known by
its now historic title.

TOfficers who left the regiment about this time:

Capt. M. A. Northrup, Co. “G.” First Lieut. G. L. Montague, Co.“G.”
Capt. John O’Rourke, Co. “D. First Lieut. J. D. Lewis, Co. “H.”
Capt. Wm. H. Lindwurm, Co. “F.” 2nd Lieut. P. H."McCauley, Co. “D.”
Capt. Leonard Johnson, Co. “1.” 2nd Lieut. John Crane, Co. “K.”

First Lieut. John Nichol, Co. “D.” 2nd Lieut. A. J. Johnson, Co. “L”
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our regiment for various reasons. My Second Lieutenant has
resigned upon invitation of the Colonel. I feel indignant about
it but am unable to prevent it. He was certainly a very
promising young officer.  First Sergeant, David L. Quaw, will
be Second Lieutenant of my company in place of Crane. He will
be a genial, companionable tent mate, but I doubt if he
develops the fine soldierly qualities possessed by Crane.”

Colonel Cutler applied a rigorous policy of weeding out
line officers, who, for various reasons were mnot acceptable to
him. TUnder the thin disguise of failure to pass examination
before a certain commission of officers, of whom I believe,
General James S. Wadsworth was President, several very
promising officers were arbitrarily driven out of the regiment. "
The Irish Company “D” was entirely stripped of its officers, and
too close a sympathy with them, by our young Irish Lieutenant,
Crane, probably brought this attack upon him. Company “G”
was also stripped of its officers. There was much bitter feeling in -
the regiment over these matters. Some, however, of the displaced
officers had proved incompetent, and others might be termed
incorrigible, so far as the discipline of the regiment was
concerned. First Lieutenant, Philip W. Plummer, of Company
“C,” was appointed Captain of Company “G.” He proved one of
the most successful of our company commanders. Of patient
temper and considerate judgment, he was yet a strict and
exacting officer. The trim and soldierly First Sergeant of
Company “E,” William A. Reader, was made First Lieutenant of
Company “G,” and James L. Converse, the First Sergeant of
Company “G,” was promoted to Second Lieutenant. No more
deserving officer was upon our rolls than James I,. Converse, and
he was faithful to the end, for he was killed in battle. Loyd G.
Harris was advanced from First Sergeant to be Second
Lieutenant of Company “C.” Lieutenant John A. Kellogg was
promoted to be Captain of Company “I” and Clayton E. Rogers,
of Company “I,” was promoted from the ranks to be Second
Lieutenant. This brought upon the list an officer of great
usefulness and remarkable courage and energy. David L. Quaw
was made First Lieutenant and Sergeant John Ticknor, Second
Lieutenant of my company, “K.” The Irish Company, “D,”
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which had been stripped of its Irish officers, was officered by the
appointment of Lieutenant John F. Marsh of Company “B” as
Captain, and Michael H. Fitch, the Sergeant Major, was
appointed First Lieutenant, and Samuel Birdsall, Second
Lieutenant. ‘Thomas Kerr, who afterward reached the rank of
Lieutenant Colonel, was with all others in the ranks of Company
“D,” overlooked. This appointment of strangers to command of
the company, and disregard of their natural and reasonable
preference as to nationality, made bad feeling among the men of
that company. Marsh and Fitch were excellent officers and
discreet men, and less diffiiculty resulted than was anticipated.

This changing around of officers, indiscriminately from
‘company to company, was a new departure, and it gave to our
regiment a violent wrench. Colonel Cutler had in all matters of
command and discipline, the courage of his convictions, and his
justification must be found in the fact that good results
ultimately followed. Among the best results was bringing up
from the ranks, a number of excellent young officers.

To my sister: (no date.) “A military life in camp is the most
monotonous in the world. It is the same routine over and over
every day. Occasionally we have a small excitement when
on review. ‘The other day an aristocratic old gentleman
rode up in a splendid carriage, driven by a superb darkey in
livery. It was William H. Seward. He is a particular friend of
our Brigadier General, Rufus King. Caleb B. Smith, the
Secretary of the Interior, has been in our camp several times.
He visits Colonel Solomon Meredith. There was an inferior
looking Frenchman at our review the other day, highly adorned
with decorations, and gold lace, who is a mystery as yet. He is
some sort of a foreign Prince. Our boys call him ‘Slam Slam.’
The finest looking military officer, McClellan not excepted, is
our division commander, General Irvin McDowell. General
King is a homely looking man, but he is a cultivated gentleman.
General Blenker, who commands the division encamped upon
our left, looks to me like a very common Dutchman.

If you have stockings and blankets for the soldiers, send them
where they are needed, not here. If you could hear our men
complain about being pack horses to carry the clothing forced
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upon them, you would not think they were suffering. Every
man in my company has one-cloth uniform coat, one overcoat,
some men two* three pairs of pants, three to five pairs of
stoekings, two woolen shirts, one undershirt, and most of them
two pairs of shoes, and the regiment has been forced to send to
Washington a large amount of good state clothing, (gray). Take
the above mentioned articles in connection with two or three
blankets, and pile them on to a man, in addition to his Belgian
musket, cartridge box, and accoutrements, and you can appreciate
the just cause for complaint of our knapsack drills. The plea
is, that these drills make the men tough. Xnapsack drills,
reviews and inspections are the order of the day. General
McDowell reviews us, then General McClellan, then General
McClellan, and then McDowell. Every member of the Cabinet
has been present on some of these occasions, but we have not
yet had the President. How soon we will move, or what the
plan of campaign will be, are subjects I have long ceased to
bother my head about. We feel very sad over the battle of
Balls Bluff. You may remember that the 15th Massachusetts
was formerly brigaded with us. The officers were a fine set of
men, and General Baker’s brigade was for a long timéd encamped
next to us at Chain Bridge. The most intelligent, best looking
men I have seen in: the service, belonged to the 15th
“Massachusetts.”

The super abundant supply of clothing may be taken as a
sample of the magnificent manner in which the grand army was
being equipped. The resources of the government were freely
lavished upon it. But “rooted inaction,” as Horace Greely puts
it, was upon us, in the hero of the hour, the commander of the
army, whom in our imaginations we enthusiastically exaited to
the skies as a great organizer, and a “Young Napoleon.”

One of the reviews referred to in the foregoing letters was held
at Bailey’s Cross Roads. T'he troops were dismissed in the midst
of the review, owing to some reported movement of the enemy,
and McDowell’s division marched back, taking the road toward

*One blue and one gray. When the men gave up the gray clothing,
the}lr.twere disposed to keep the overcoats, because of their superior
quality.



29

Washington, to our camp on Arlington Heights. With our
column rode a lady visitor; my authority is her own account.
Our regiment marched at the head of the column, because we
stood on the extreme right of the line. As we marched, the
“evening dews and damps” gathered, and our leading singer,
Sergeant John Ticknor, as he was wont to do on such occasions, led
out with his strong, clear and beautiful tenor voice, “Hang Jeff.
Davis on a sour apple tree.” The whole regiment joined the
grand chorus, “Glory, glory hallelujah, as we go marching on.”
We often sang this, the John Brown song. ‘To our visitor
appeared the “Glory of the coming of the Lord,” in our
“burnished rows of steel” and in the “hundred circling camps”
on Arlington, which were before her.

Julia Ward Howe, our visitor, has said that the singing of the
John Brown song by the soldiers on that march, and the scenes
of that day and evening inspired her to the composition of the
Battle Hymn of the Republic.* We at least helped to swell the
chorus.

*BATTLE-HYMN OF THE REPUBLIC.

JULIA WARD HOWE.

Mine eyes have seen the glory of the coming of the Lord:
He is trampling out the vintage where the grapes of wrath are stored.
He hath loosed the fateful lightning of his terrible swift sword :

His truth is marching on.

I have seen him in the watch-fires of a hundred cireling camps ;

They have builded him an altar in the evening dews and damps;

I can read his righteous sentence by the dim and flaring lamps,
His day is marching on.

I have read a fiery gospel, writ in burnished rows of steel:

“As ye deal with my contemners, so with you my grace shall deal,

Let the Hero, born of woman, crush the serpent with his heel,
Since God is marching on.” i

He hath sounded forth the trumpet that shall never call retreat ;

He is sifting out the hearts of men before his judgment seat.

Oh! be swift my soul, to answer him! Be jubilant, my feet!
Our God is marching on.

In the beauty of the lillies Christ was born across the sea,

With a glory in his bosom that transfigures you and me:

As he died to make men holy, let us die to make men free,
‘While God is marching on.
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Camp ON ARLINGTON HEIGHTS, NOVEMBER 21st, 1861.

“Last Sunday I attended Dr. Gurley’s church in Washington
City. I went there to see President Lincoln. I think many
others of the worshipers went there for the same purpose. Mr.
Lincoln is very tall and very homely, but no one can look at him
without being impressed with the serious earnestness of his face.
On Tuesday we marched out to Bailey’s Cross Roads to take part
in the grand review. I must not write about what the papers
are so full of. You know that it was the largest review of troops
ever had in America, that sixty thousand infantry, nine thousand
cavalry and one hundred and thirty pieces of artillery passed in
review before McClellan, that the regiments marched by
‘battalions en masse,” and that it took from 11 o’clock A. M.
until 4 P. M. to pass the reviewing officer, and that the President,
the members of the Cabinet, and all the celebrities, foreign and
domestic, were present. But perhaps you have not seen that
General McClellan was so overcome by the lofty pomposity of
drum major William Whaley of this regiment, that he took off
his hat when Whaley passed. But, sad to relate, Whaley was so
overcome by this recognition, which took place while he was
indulging in a top loftical gyration of his baton, that he dropped
the baton. From the topmost height of glory he was plunged
into the deepest gulf of despair. This drum major of ours we
regard with pride and affection as the finest adornment of the
regiment. He can hold his head higher, and whirl his baton
faster than any other drum major in the Army of the Potomac.
It is enough to make one sad, to see the stately Whaley leading
that execrable brass band on dress parade, eternally playing the
Village Quickstep, but when his own drum corps is behind him,
‘Richard is himself again,” and he snuffs the air and spurns the
ground like a war horse.”

The marching of the regiment, which led the brigade and
division at the grand review, had now become almost faultless.
As the solid block of eight hundred stalwart western men,
approached the Commanding General, marching in perfect time
and with free and easy stride, led by this truly splendid drum
major, the great crowd at the reviewing stand continued cheering
and clapping hands.



31

On the twenty-eighth of November, the regimental mess,
composed of the field, staff and line officers, had a Thanksgiving
dinner. We had built a large log dining hall, which was very
comfortable, although home made. Our dinner was no small
affair. Colonel Cutler also made each company in the regiment,
the happy recipient of twenty mince pies, about a quarter of a
pie to each man.

I here obtained a leave of absence for ten days, for a visit to
Ohio.*

Letter received at Marietta, from Sergeant Upham :

HEADQUARTERS SIXTH REGIMENT, WiIs. VOLS.
ARrRLINGTON HEIGHTS, VA., DEC. 31st, 1861.

“CaPTAIN DAWES,—Dear Sir :—1 take this early opportunity
of writing to you, knowing that you will be glad to hear from your
company. I will tell you how we got along since you left. VYou
remember that Lieutenant Quaw was on court martial, and that
Lieutenant Reader was to take the company out on battalion
drill, the afternoon you left. Well, Reader was unable to go.
So this deponent formed the company, and when drill time came,
there was no one to take it out. <At the drum call I marched the
company out and formed them in battalion, anxiously hoping
that some commissioned officer would come to my relief, and
wishing that Marietta were in a hot place so that you could have
remained with us. Well, Captain Brown took charge of ‘K, and
I felt as though a mountain had been lifted from my shoulders.
We had a good drill. ‘K’ never did better. ‘K’ came into camp
in good season and fell in immediately for dress parade, Lieut.
Serrill taking command. Thus ended our first day without our
Captain. ‘T'wo men remained in off dress parade, Simons and
‘Dick.’t 'They said you had excused them before you left—a?
in my mind. This morning all was bustle, preparing for monthly
inspection. I made out the roll of the company, took the muster
roll to the Adjutant, prepared my own accoutrements, and was

*The few days vouchsafed me sped swiftly. My brother had graduated
from college, and he was now Adjutant of the 53rd Ohio Volunteers. His
service was destined to be with the armies in the West, and he was soon to
go to the front in the division commanded by General William T. Sherman.
On the sixth day of January, 1862, I started to rejoin the regiment.

tRichard Upham, an Indian.
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getting barbered when the drum beat. I left with my hair half
combed and fell the company in. We were inspected by Captain
Chandler. All the sons answered to their names, except Ralph
Brown and A. G. Emmons. Even Hancock came up to be
mustered. I am cross and ugly. I took two men to the officer
of the guard to-day, for coming back to the company quarters
when on guard duty. An imperative order to that effect was
issued by the Colonel. Captain Brown says he wishes he had
Company ‘K.’ They move so easily. Bully for Company ‘K.
I will write again shortly, so as to keep you posted. I remain
Yours truly, LyMAN B. UrpHAM.”

I arrived in camp on the gth day of January, 1862, the tr1p
from Ohio to Washington consuming three days time.

We had many amusements in our winter camp on Arlington
Heights. We played whist, chess, and other games on wintry
days, and, despite restrictions on political discussion, in the
articles of war, we discussed all questions of politics or religion,
with the utmost freedom. Bragg was a Douglass or war
Democrat, Brown and Kellogg, Republicans, and I was called an
Abolitionist. But the baleful Shadow cast by slavery over the
border, and the fierce and brutal insolence of the slave catcher
who was often seen on our free soil of Ohio, tended to make
Abolitionists. Captain Edwin A. Brown was a singer. We
were unconscious then, that his melodious voice predicted his own
sad fate when he sang his favorite “Benny Havens, O.” “In
the land of sun and flowers, his head lies pillowed low.”

The officers of the whole brigade would gather in our log
dining hall and jokes would be ventilated, speeches made, and
hilarious songs sung. The *“Chinese song” as performed by
Captain Hooe on those occasions, was so amusing that this
reminder will recall it to all of our living comrades who heard it.

The men had one sport in this camp which was quite exciting.
It was tossing men in a blanket. They became expert and
would throw a man to an astonishing height and catch him in the
blanket as he fell. I once took this whirling aerial flight, but
only once, having no desire to repeat the experience. There
was gambling in camp, that ever-present curse of camp life;
but the strict orders of Colonel Cutler against this vice, and his
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vigorous discipline greatly restricted the evil in Camp Arlington.
It was well that the regiment had so resolute a commander. He
gave almost no passes to the city. ‘Thieves, speculators,
gamblers and vile characters of all kind had flocked to
Washington to prey upon the army. This enemy in the rear
was now more dangerous than the enemy in front. The great
thoroughfare, Pennsylvania avenue, was constantly thronged
with a surging crowd. The street was so muddy that it could
not be crossed, and the western side only was used. In spite of
the constant marching of the armed patrols, our soldiers were
constantly made victims by the Harpies. Washington was a
very sink hole of iniquity in other ways of evil. The unfinished
dome of the United States Capitol, and the half built Washington
Monument well typified the uncertainty of a continued national
existence.

The grand old southern homestead of Arlington, with its
quaint and curious pictures on the wall, its spacious apartments,
broad halls and stately pillars in front, was an object of especial
interest; but, abandoned by its owner, General Robert E. Lee,
who was using his great power as a military leader, to destroy
the Government he had sworn to defend, it was now a desolation.
The military headquarters of McDowell’s division was in the
Arlington House, which was open to the public and hundreds
tramped at will through its apartments.

Having ample time to plan campaigns, that indeed being the
chief business of our lives at Arlington, and pursued by an
increasing curiosity regarding a young lady then attending the
seminawy at Ipswich, Massachusetts, I threw out skirmishers in
that direction. I sent sundry illustrated papers with pictures of
our camps, and received from the enemy a return fire of
catalogues and other Massachusetts publications. I was then a
devout admirer of General McClellan and I received with disgust
one of these missives directed to the “Army of the Potty Mac.”
But the seminary girls breathed the air of independent opinion
in New England, and they were beyond the circle of McClellanism.
This trifling skirmish resulted in no engagement.

ARLINGTON HEIGHTS, JANUARY 25th, 1862.

To my sister: “We are now having terribly muddy weather.
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All drills are omitted. Unfortunately our turn for picket duty
on the outposts came in the midst of this spell of bad weather.
Your anxiety about ‘the approaching battle’ had better be
postponed. Any movement of the army is impossible. As we
marched up Munson’s Hill, on our way to the outposts, the mud
rolled down upon the men in a kind of avalanche. They waded
up the hill through a moving stream of red clay mortar. Luckily
I was ordered to act as Major, and had a horse to ride.”
Six days from my Journal : '
SATURDAY, FEBRUARY 1st, 1862.

“Went to the city (Washington) to-day. Had a pleasant visit
with uncle William. (W. P. Cutler, member Congress.) In the
evening we went to his rooms to call on Hon. Henry L. Dawes,
of Massachusetts. Mr. Dawes treated me very politely. The
Congressional Investigating Committee of which Mr. Van Wyck,
of New York, is Chairman, was holding a session at his rooms.
Mr. Holman* of Indiana, overhearing that I was an officer in the
6th Wisconsin, undertook to pump me on some charges somebody
has been making against Colonel Cutler. It was all new to me,
and I knew nothing at all about the matter. Mr. Dawes was
evidently annoyed at this breach of his hospitality and Mr. R. C.
Fenton called Mr. Holman sharply to order, and to a proper
sense of the rudeness of. his conduct. It was quite disagreeable.

SuNDAY, FEBRUARY 2nd, 1862.

Returned to camp in the morning. I found one of my men,
private Ed. Hendrick, sick with the small pox. I had him
removed to Washington. It is varioloid, and I hope may stop with
this case. .

Monpay, FEBRUARY 3rd, 1862.

Was officer of the day. Rode over to Balls’ Cross Roads to
inspect guards. I never saw mud before, equal to that I
encountered.

TUESDAY, FEBRUARY 4th, 1862.

Mud,—mud,—mud precludes drill, everything, to say nothing

*This does Mr. Holman an injustice. He fairly inferred that I was there
to be examined as others had been. An evidence of the wonderful
memory of details possessed by Mr. Holman is the fact that in 1882 he was
able to recall this circumstance,
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of an advance on Manassas. Was detailed to-day as a member
of a General Court Martial.

WEDNESDAY, FEBRUARY 5th, 1862.

General Court Martial convened at headquarters McDowell’s
division, (Arlington House.) We tried one case and adjourned
over until Friday. Colonel Cutler is President, and Capt. Hooe
of our regiment, Judge Advocate.

THURSDAY, FEBRUARY 6th, 1862.%

A dull day in camp. Captain Brown and Captain Kellogg are
jolly fellows to make time pass lightly. Kellogg sprained
Brown’s neck by an awkward blow with the boxing gloves.”

During the continuance of bad weather, target shooting was
about the only exercise required, and Colonel Cutler offered
small prizes for excellence. Our Belgian muskets had been
exchanged for Springfield rifles, a much lighter and better gun,
and this gave great satisfaction. Washington’s birthday was
celebrated by Congress with appropriate ceremonies. Our
brigade formed in a semi-circle in close column before the broad

*Page 718, Vol. 5, War Records, February 6th, 1862. McDowell’s
division was made up as follows :

King’s BRIGADE.

6th Wisconsin,... ....960 men.

7th Wisconsin,... .....996 men.
P AN BT ET0rs 0 o Brortniors EeOAon Baomb cool oo cac oo o R S et 821 men.
Gt T diam AN P . A NN S R 892 men.
' 3,669 men.

‘W ADSWORTH’S BRIGADE
st INEW DY OFks, #5 Sa L st S L L s I S Lo L L 735 men,

2 LA N E WP OTIC, 525 5 3 555 e le e s/aailen s ohsworahin sLos 400 e sewaissdaedses ....878 men.
35th New York, ;
20th New York,

30th New York,
22nd New York,......... ....

2nd" N Y Oayalry H(EranElarriss)t s SRl 10 arrtm i, . 5 5. e 982 men.
Batteriesioftartillery m s st S N TR R S bt Suad et s 663 men.
Total division strength, heennili1,939) BEEN.
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portico of the Arlington House, and listened to the reading of
Washington’s farewell address, and to an excellent oration from
our Brigadier General, Rufus King. The columns were then
deployed and battalion volleys of blank cartridges were fired in
honor of the day. The inspiration of the occasion was felt more
deeply because we stood upon ground once owned by
Washington.

On Sunday, the gth day of March, my uncle, Mr. [Cutler,
accompanied by Edward Ball, Sergeant at Arms of the House
of Representatives, came over to Arlington to visit me in
-camp. I turned out my company “K” for their inspection.
They addressed the men briefly, and assured them that they
would soon be called to more active duties, and on that evening
we received our marching orders. At 4 o’clock on Monday
morning, March 1oth, 1862, the old camp on Arlington Heights
was broken up. The whole army of the Potomac advanced
in full marching order in the direction of Centreville. We
expected battle, and our men were in that verdant and idiotic
frame of mind, which was then termed “spoiling for a fight.”
After a hard day’s march we encamped two miles west of Fairfax
Court House, and on Tuesday morning, March 11th, we were
informed that the rebels had evacuated Centreville and Manassas.
I quote the comments of my journal, as to the manner in which the
announcement of this fact was received. ‘“I'he men were greatly
disappointed. They had made their wills, and written their
farewell letters, and wanted to fight a battle. The fortifications
at Centreville are by no means so formidable as they have been
represented. I saw two saw-logs in the embrasures representing
cannons. So much for wooden guns.” We remained in camp
near Centreville until Saturday, March 15th. At noon on this
day the brigade marched back toward Alexandria, and the rain
poured down in dismal torrents all the afternoon. We passed an
exceedingly disagreeable night in bivouac near Alexandria, and
on Sunday morning returned to the old camp on Arlington
Heights. General Irvin McDowell had been assigned to the
command of an army corps, composed of three divisions.
(*Franklin, McCall, King.) General Rufus King succeeded to the

*Page 755, Volume 5, Official War Records.
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command of McDowell’s division, which was now designated as
“King’s division,” Colonel Cutler succeeded General King in
command of the brigade, and Lieutenant Colonel Sweet,
succeeded to command of the regiment.

We now understood that we were to accompany the Army of
the Potomac, under General McClellan, which was then
embarking at Alexandria, for Fortress Monroe. We received
orders on March 18th, to go to Alexandria, and we fully
expected to embark. We were instead ordered into camp near
Alexandria and while our tents were being pitched, we were
directed to march back again to Fairfax Seminary. The order
was obeyed with much grumbling and scolding, and without our
supper. The rainy, cold, dismal weather, together with the
pungent and blinding smoke of the camp fires of green wood,
rendered camp life at Fairfax Seminary, extremely unpleasant.
The little shelter tents, usually called “dog tents,” occupied by
the men, proved like most army material at that period of the
war, to be of the poorest quality, and leaked badly. On March
2s5th, the sun had broken through the clouds, and there was, as
might be expected, a grand review conducted by General Irvin
McDowell. The divisions of Generals Franklin, King, and
McCall were  out in full force, perhaps 25,000 men. Two days
later there was another review, upon which occasion Lord Lyons,
the English Minister, was present with General McClellan.

One white day from my journal.

SATURDAY, MARCH 29th, 1862.

The regiment was paid this morning. I got a pass to
Washington. The men of my company sent by me $610 to be
remitted in drafts to their friends. Got drafts of Rittenhouse
& Company.

Tiresome and monotonous camp life ensued until April 4th*
when the regiment marched—not to embark at Alexandria, but
towards Fairfax Court House. We pushed on until April 6th,
when we encamped near Bristoe Station. During this march an

* ADJUTANT-GENERAL’S OFFICE, APRIL 4th, 1862.
GENERAL McCLELLAN: By direction of the President, Gen. McDowe;ll’s
army corps has been detached from the force, under your immediate
command, and the General is ordered to report to the Secretary of War,
Letter by mail. L. Tromas, Adjutant-General.
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amusing excitement was created by the 14th Brooklyn regiment.
The men of that regiment were from the city, clerks, book-keepers
and business men. They were full of shrewd devices to avoid
unnecessary hardships. ‘They were then uniformed in short
Zouave jackets, made in the cutaway style, often seen on
youngsters of about six years of age, and profusely adorned with
buttons. Their pantaloons were red. When we were somewhere
near Centreville, they captured in a field, a quiet and peaceable
looking young bull. After much ingenious labor, they succeeded
in harnessing him to a cart, using an old horse harness for this
purpose. ‘Then, loading up the cart with a pyramid of their
heavy knapsacks, they endeavored to persuade the bull with their
bayonets to march along with the troops. The terrified animal
would at first only go backwards, but finally goaded beyond
endurance by the bayonets, he made a sudden bolt. Our troops,
all unconscious of impending danger, were marching quietly
along the turnpike, when there arose a shout, “Clear the track !
Clear the track !” Men on foot, and mounted officers needed no
second warning, but crowded against the fences to give the bull
the road. Down the turnpike came the rushing bull, the air
about him filled with flying knapsacks. He completely routed
our brigade. He soon upset the cart and kicked himself
loose. When we saw him last he was still at full speed., and the
“Red Legs"” were hunting knapsacks.
The following from my Journal :
TuUrsDAY, APRIL 8th, 1862.

‘““T'here is rain and snow to-day. Company officers are supplied
only with shelter tents. Our camp is very muddy. It is difficult
for officers to get anything to eat, as our wagon is loaded with
hard tack, and very poor ham only. I paid Jake* ten dollars
to-day.”

WEDNESDAY, APRIL gth, 1862.

“Rain and snow to-day. I was not able to get my wet boots
on, this morning, and was obliged to lie in my ‘dog tent’ until
afternoon. As I could not stay in the tent without continually
lying on the bunk, it was tedious. The rain and snow storm has

*Jake was my colored servant, and while in a comfortable camp, he was
a very good one,
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continued all day, confining all the men to their shelter tents.
We have no mail, no papers, no literature of any kind. The men
beguiled the weary hours, by croaking like frogs, quacking like
ducks, and barking like dogs. I gave Jake a gold’dollar and
sent him in quest of something to eat. The base wretch has
deserted me, and ‘done gone’ to Baltimore. That is what he
wanted his $1o for. I got supper at a house at Bristoe Station.
Breakfast and dinner I had none.”

One performance of our men in these dismal rain storms, was
quite comical. It was called, ‘“The bull frog of Bull Run.” A
leader would shout: “When our army marched down to Bull
Run, what did the big bull frog say?” Hundreds of men would
respond in deep bass, bull frog croaks: “Big thing! Bié thing!1”
Then the leader would ask, “When our army came back
from Bull Run, what did the little frogs say?” “Run Yank!
Run Yank!!” would be screeched in response, in excellent
imitation of a swamp full of frogs. ‘““What does the bully Sixth
say?” Again the bull frog bass would respond, “Hit ’em again !
Hit ’em again!!” Brave boys! how they contended against
adverse circumstances, with their cheerful and courageous spirit.

While near Bristoe, we received news of the great battle of
Pittsburgh Landing. Our army was said to have gained a
victory, after suffering a terrible loss. General King kindly gave
me the use of the Government telegraph; but I was unable to
learn anything of my brother, who, I knew, must have been in
the engagement. On Sunday, the 13th, we marched from camp
near Bristoe to Catletts Station. Here we enjoyed the good
fortune of a “high, dry, and excellent camp ground.”

(Letter.) S1. STEPHEN’S CHAPEL, VA.,
APRIL 14th, 1862.

“Our troops are engaged in repairing railroads, and building
bridges. We are advancing through a beautiful country, but,
deserted by its people, and desolated by the armies, it seems
likely to become a wilderness. At present, my company, and
company ‘E, are doing outpost duty under command of Major .
Bragg. My own headquarters are at St. Stephen’s Chapel, a
handsome little Episcopal church, with pulpit and pews
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uninjured. Itis the most comfortable quarters I have had for a
long time.”

(Journal.) TUESDAY, APRIL 17th, 1862.

“We were relieved from picket duty by the 21st New York.
We were sorry to go back to camp. Our tour of duty at St.
Stephen’s Chapel was a picnic.”

General Augur’s brigade, of King’s division, marched forward
to opposite Fredericksburgh, after some skirmishing near
Falmouth, and on Monday, the 2r1st of April, our brigade
marched from Catletts Station towards Fredericksburgh. In
accordance with our customary fate, a severe rain storm prevailed
all day. The creeks were overflowing, and we were so delayed
at the crossings, that we made only six miles. The brigade
bivouacked for the night in a muddy field. The men were wet,
wood scarce and wet, mud deep, air chilly, and everything ina
forlorn condition. . As a remedy, a heavy whiskey ration was
issued. It was the first experiment of the kind in the history of
our regimeunt, and it proved a miserable failure. There were
many who would not drink their liquor at all, and others, as a
result, obtained a double or triple portion. My journal says:
“A thousand drunken men in the brigade, made a pandemonium
of the camp all night.”

We reached Falmouth opposite Fredericksburgh at four o’clock
on Wednesday, April 23rd. Our hearts were made glad by
finding our mail waiting for us. I heard fully from my brother
that he was engaged in the bloody battles of April 6th and 7th,
at Shiloh, and in the skirmish of the morning of the 8th, at
Fallen Timber. He had escaped without injury, though fighting
with a courage and valor homnorable to himself, and gratifying to
his friends, as he was placed under very trying circumstances.

(Letter.) CAMP OPPOSITE FREDERICKSBURGH,
APRIL 26th, 1862.

“We are mnow encamped on the heights north of the
Rappahannock river, opposite Fredericksburgh, which is an old
fashioned, compactly built, little city, situated in a beautiful
valley. Our troops do not occupy the town, but, as the hills
north of the river are high, our batteries command it. Above
the town, the river is full of rapids, but vessels come up to the
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town, and a U. S. gun boat was here yesterday. We hope to
push on toward Richmond and join McClellan’s army. Our
camps are now flooded with negroes, with packs on their backs,
and bound for freedom. No system of abolition could have
swept the system away more effectually than does the advance of
our army. Behind us the slaves, if they choose, are free. All
civil authority is gone.” Our military authorities refused to have
anything to do with the negroes. But with the sympathy and
active assistance of the soldiers, the poor slaves were breaking
their fetters in spite of their masters. Some men in one of our
New York regiments, so roughly handled a slave owner, who was
trying to recapture his slave in camp, that the provost guard
interfered to protect him, but not to catch the slave. Meanwhile
the slave made good his title to liberty, by taking refuge with
the soldiers. I wrote from this camp: “So far the slave holders
have vainly called upon our military authorities, for assistance in
returning fugitives. Thus the great question of liberty is
working its own solution. ‘The right must, and surely will,
triumph in the end. Let us thank God, and take courage.”
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CHAPTER III1.

Fac-Simile Confederate Currency—A Remarkable Bridge—
Advent of Gen. John Gibbon—Extra Clothing—Still *“ Spoil-
ing for a Fight”’—Feathers, Leggings and White Gloves—
President Lincoln Visits us—“On to Richmond’—Stonewall
Jackson in the Valley—We Pursue Jackson—His men Carry
“a Hundred Rounds and a gum Blanket,” Ours Carry
“Saratoga Trunks”—“You uns is Pack Mules, we uns is Race
Horses”—Overcoats and Knapsacks Flung Away—Celerity of
Jackson vs. Ponderosity of McDowell-Up the Hill and Down
Again—We Attend Church in Fredericksburgh—Mink Teaches
School—A Very Pretty Fight of my own—Win by a Scratch and
am Appointed Major—Franlk A. Haskell-Advent of General
Pope—Prejudice Against McDowell-A Mule Race—Pope’s
Proclamation not Well Received—A Raid Toward Orange C. H,
—By Help of a Slave, I Capture a Confederate Officer—“Its
the Lord’'s Will That the Colored People Help you uns”—
Impending Battles—The Fredericks Hall Raid—To Cedar
Mountain—-HNHe “Done got out’—William Jackson—Retreat
Before General Leeo—First Experiences under Fire—To
Warrenton—To Warrenton Sulphur Springs—Again Under
Fire—Stonewall Jackson in our Rear—Back Toward Centre-
ville—Can’t Stop to eat—Battle of Gailnesville—Corps Com-
mander “Lost in the Woods”—A Midnight Retreat—Some
Comments on Gainesville—Sound of Battle on the Bull Run
Field—Fitz John Porter’s Corps Marches by—We March to the
Field of Battle—Clouds of Dust Interpreted as a Retreat of
the Enemy—Battle of Bull Run Second—Midnight Visit From
General Kearney and Retreat—Death on Picket Duty—
Chantilly—To Upton’s Hill-Joy at the Announcement That
McClellan is in Command—Colonel Bragg's Manly and
Patriotic Political Stand—Colonel Cutler Pays his Respects to
Mr. Stanton. .

SATURDAY, APRIL 26th, 1862.

“Some men in our brigade bought to-day of citizens, large
amounts of tobacco and other goods, with fac-simile confederate
currency. ‘The people refused United States treasury mnotes
when offered, but sought this bogus confederate money with
avidity. Indeed, I think myself, it looks a little better than the
original rebel money. An order was issued to-day, forbidding
this kind of swindling.”

On Sunday, we marched out four miles, on the line of
the Acquia Creek Railroad. Here we were engaged in
building a great pole trestle bridge over Potomac creek.
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The work was under direction of Herman Haupt, a vol-
unteer engineer officer on the staff of General McDowell, and
the bridge was considered a triumph of military engineering. I
quote from General Andrew Hickenlooper, a description of this
bridge. He says: “It was five hundred feet in length, and
eighty feet in height, composed of unhewn trees and saplings,
cut in the adjoining woods and placed in position by the troops
of General McDowell’s command. So rapidly was the work
executed that the whole was completed within a period of nine
days, which, allowing twelve working hours a day, required the
placing in position of five hundred pieces of timber every hour.
And so well was the work done that for several years it carried
in safety from ten to fifteen heavy trains per day and resisted the
destructive influence of several devastating floods.” ILieutenant
D. L. Quaw was in command of a large force getting out this
bridge timber. Lijeutenant Clayton E. Rogers was also doing
work with his accustomed vim, having a large band of choppers.
After this service, we again encamped opposite Fredericksburgh.
No event worthy of mention transpired until Thursday, May 8th,
when Brigadier General John Gibbon took command of our
brigade and Colonel Cutler returned to the command of the
regiment. General Gibbon graduated from West Point in 1847.
In 1854 he was at West Point as Assistant Instructor of Artillery,
which shows that he was considered, even then, master of his
profession. The “Artillerists Manual,” published in New VYork
in 1859, was from his pen and was considered an extremely useful
work. He was Captain of Battery “B” 4th U. S. Artillery in the
regular service. He soon manifested superior qualities as a
brigade commander. Thoroughly educated in the military profes-
sion, he had also high personal qualifications to exercise com-
mand. He was anxious that his brigade should excel in every
way, and while he was an exacting disciplinarian he had the good
sense to recognize merit where it existed. His administration of
the command left a lasting impression for good upon the character
and military tone of the brigade, and his splendid personal
bravery upon the field of battle was an inspiration. The brigade
was now known as “Gibbon’s brigade.”

We were ordered to procure an entire outfit of new hats and a
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supply of clothing. There was complaint on the part of the
men at being obliged to draw overcoats at the beginning of sum-
mer in a hot climate.

On the evening of the 1oth of May, there was an alarm over
the river beyond Fredericksburgh. The men received the
announcement that they would probably be needed for a fight
with a tremendous shout. ‘They said “a year’s fight was bottled
up in them and it was spoiling to come out.”” It transpired
however, that there were not enough rebels in the vicinity to
accommodate our men with the desired fight.

We now had a large force of men engaged upon the timber
work of the railroad bridge across the Rappahannock river. This
bridge was of the same character as that of the Potomac Creek,
and it was_six hundred feet in length by sixty-five in height.

Meanwhile General McClellan’s army was pressing on toward
Richmond. A strong feeling possessed us that we were to be a
mere side show while others performed the real acts of war. We
had now been nearly a year in active service and could boast only
of the inglorious battle at Patterson Park. This circumstance is
the more notable, since statistics show that, when the war was
ended, our brigade had lost more men killed in battle than any
other brigade in the whole army of the Union.

About this time I visited in the cemetery at Fredericksburgh,
the tomb of Mary, the mother of Washington. The rebel
soldiers, who had been encamped in this vicinity, had set targets
against this sacred monument and it was shamefully defaced by
bullets fired against it.

On Saturday, May 17th, the regiment was fully supplied with
white leggings, black felt hats adorned with feathers, and white
cotton gloves. ‘These decorations were received with the
greatest merriment, but we all felt proud of the fine appearance
of the battalion. My journal says: “General Gibbon attended
our dress parade to-day, and the regiment was in ‘fine feather.’”
The next day, a gay looking young rebel Captain came in with
a flag of truce. The men, delighted to see a live rebel, flocked
around him by hundreds. On the 19th of May, the great
railroad bridge across the Rappahannock was completed, and a
locomotive passed over into Fredericksburgh.
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It is worthy of record, that on our pay-day, the men of my
company, “K,” sent home in various small sums to their families
and friends, over $800, nearly one half of the entire pay
received. General Shield’s division joined us on the 23rd of
May, and on this day President Abraham Lincoln and the
Secretary of War, Edwin M. Stanton, were present at a review
of our brigade. On Saturday, May 24th, the journal says: ‘“The
soldiers of Shield’s division have christened us the ‘bandbox
brigade.” Our boys retort that they would rather wear leggings
than be lousy. Shield’s division are the dirtiest ragamuffins we
have yet seen in the service.” At this time General McDowell,
himself a precise and exacting soldier, said of our brigade:
“Many times I have shown them to foreign officers of distinction,
as specimens of American Volunteer soldiers, and asked them
if they had ever anywhere seen even among the picked soldiers
of royal and imperial guards, a more splendid body of men, and
I have never had an affirmative answer.” The brigade was not
excelled in the precision and accuracy of their movement by any
other body of troops I have ever seen, not excepting the cadets
at West Point. Beyond a doubt, it was this year of preparation
that brought the “Iron Brigade” to its high standard of efficiency
for battle service.

The next day we had marching orders, and to the great joy of
the men, we moved toward Richmond. The men said: “As
soon as old Abe saw our brigade, he knew it could take
Richmond, and he has sent us to do it.” But we marched only
eight miles south of Fredericksburgh, and encamped for several
days in the woods. We here received news of the disastrous
retreat of General Banks in the Shenandoah valley, before the
swift advance of Stonewall Jackson.

The next two weeks journal, is the record of experiences on a
wild goose chase by McDowell’s corps, after Stonewall Jackson,
who was in the Shenandoah valley.

THURSDAY, MAY 29th, 1862.

“We marched at ten A. M., northward, and camped for the
night, six miles north of Fredericksburgh, on the road to Catletts
Station. It was a hard tramp. Sixty pounds is an awful load
for a man to carry on a hot summer day.”
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Fripay, MAy 3o0th, 1862.%

“We marched at 8:30 A. M. The weather was hot and suitry.
One hundred and fifty men fell out of the ranks exhausted, on
the march to-day. It rained in the afternoon. We camped six
miles from Catletts Station. It was one of the hardest marches
the regiment ever had. T'wenty miles was the distance marched.”

A few weeks later (Fredericks Hall raid) upon an equally
sultry day, our regiment marched thirty-five miles without
knapsacks. The men were here absurdly over burdened. They
had been required to carry each an overcoat, an extra pair of
shoes, and an extra pair of pants. These superfluous articles,
added to the necessary hundred rounds of ball cartridges, shelter
tent, gum and woolen blankets, haversack full of rations,
canteen full of water, musket and accoutrements, were a load
beyond the strength of ordinary men. Our young boys were
broken down by the needless overtaxing of their strength. I
can not say who was responsible for such management. I know,
however, that General McDowell, whether justly or unjustly,
was thoroughly cursed for it. Vast numbers of new overcoats,
and many knapsacks were flung away by the exhausted men on
this march. The men said they were “issuing overcoats to the
rebel cavalry,” and it is very likely that they were. I know
well the weight of those monstrous knapsacks from personal
experience. Many a mile I carried a knapsack on my shoulders
to aid the tired and weak of my company. I well remember
seeing strong men carrying two knapsacks, and sometimes stout
Abe Fletcher loaded up with three, to help the “little fellows”{
along. At Gettysburg, this kind hearted man fell dead at the
front of battle. But the smallest man in the company was a

#*See pages 309—310, Volume 12, Part III, War Records, for strength
and composition of McDowell’s corps on May 31st. 1862. Present for duty
in the corps, officers, 2,023, men, 42,422. In King’s division, officers, 466,
men, 8,560. :

tThe “little fellows” of Company “K” were Silas W. Temple, John R.
Towle, Charles M. Taylor, George E. Chamberlain, Cassius Griggs and
Aaron Yates. They were young, slight, round cheeked boys, who endured
their hardships with ,a cheerful patience that won us all. The leather
straps cut their shoulders, and the weight was too heavy under the hot
sun, and pressed upon their lungs. They were not fitted to become beasts
of burden, nor were they thus rendering the cause a useful service.
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marvel. He was a diminutive Irishman, named Hugh Talty.
In recognition of his shortness he was called “Tall T.” He
would often carry an extra knapsack for the “little fellows.” In
the distribution of new clothing, there was a difficulty in properly
“sizing up” the company. “Tall T” was under the smallest
size contemplated in the Regulations, and he could never be
fitted. Poor “Tall TV’ sometimes had pantaloons that would
almost button around his neck. I gave this matter particular
attention. “Who’s your tailor, “T'all T'?” once shouted a man
as we marched. ‘“The captain, be gob,” came back like a flash
from “Tall T.” ~

There was another little Irishman in the company whom we
called “Mickey,” (James P. Sullivan.) For genuine sallies of
humor at unexpected times, I have never seen his equal. He
was a heroic soldier, and he was shot and severely wounded,
three different times in battle. “Micky” and ‘“T'all T’ were both
shot, and laid in the same hospital together at Gettysburg.
They softened the sufferings of many by their unconquerable good
humor and genuine wit. Such men are of priceless value in
an army.

The most caustic comment I can make on this campaign, is to
quote the remarks of a deserter from Stonewall Jackson’s army,
who came to us at some time during the marching. He said,
“You uns is pack mules, we uns is race horses.” “All old
Jackson gave us, was a musket, a hundred rounds and a gum
blanket, and he ‘druv us so like hell,’ that I could not stand it on
parched corn.” Another saying of some Johnny from Jackson’s
corps was quoted then. He said: “We uns durst leave our
mammy. You uns is tied to granny Lincoln’s apron string.”

Our men called their knapsacks, ‘‘Saratoga trunks.” The
weary details of the hot and dusty tramp need not be repeated.
We marched from Fredericksburgh to Warrenton, and then from
Warrenton to Fredericksburgh, opposite which city we were
again encamped on June 1oth, 1862. With Jackson, celerity
was success. With us, ponderosity was military science.

The most pleasant incident of the expedition, was our camp,
in a beautiful grove near the village of Warrenton, which is
delightfully situated, overlooking an extensive mountain
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landscape. Here we enjoyed a luxury, not common in that
region, good, pure water. Some of the first families of Virginia,
made their homes here, but we found the first people particularly
bitter in their hostility.

It was my custom to attend church with my company, while
we were in camp near Fredericksburgh. On Sunday, June 15th,
I attended the Episcopal church with fifty men. The men
enjoyed attending church, as it seemed homelike. We were
kindly received, and made welcome by the minister, but so much
can not be said for the people.

In the camp near Fredericksburgh, our enlisted men had their
brasses scoured, guns wiped, white gloves waghed, and shoes
blacked by the contrabands who swarmed about them. How
these people lived being a mystery to me, I one day cornered a
very black, but quick witted little imp, called “Mink.” “Mink,”
said I, “where did you come from?” “Bides hole, sah!” (Boyd’s
Hole, below Fredericksburgh.) “What do you eat?” “I picks
up a bone, sah!” “Where do you sleep?” “I sleeps under a
leaf, sah!” “What do you do?” “I teaches school, sah!” Sure
enough, investigation proved that this little black “Mink” was
teaching a class of other contrabands their letters, which he had
already quickly learned himself. As “Mink” explained matters
to me, our colored barber, who came with us from Wisconsin,
“done bossed the school,” but the colored barber himself could
not read. He was only useful in keeping order.

(Journal.) SATURDAY, JUNE 14th, 1862.

“Served to-day on a board of survey with Lieutenant
Colonel Lucius Fairchild, 2nd Wisconsin, and Captain Linsley,
1gth Indiana. We condemned a large amount of wormy
hard-tack. There seems to be some chance of our going to
Richmond yet.”

SUNDAY, JUNE 15th, 1862.

“I marched eighty men of my company to church in
Fredericksburgh. We went to the Episcopal church. We were
made to feel at home. Requested Colonel Cutler to settle
definitely the question of seniority among captains.”

There were four of the original captains remaining on the
rolls who had been mustered into the United States service on the



49

same day, July 16th, 1861. ‘There still remained an unsettled
question as to their relative rank.

(Journal.) MoNDAY, JUNE 16th, 1862.

“Colonel Cutler ordered the seniority question settled by lot.
Captains Dill, Hooe, Hauser and I repaired to the Colonel’s
headquarters. The Colonel put four scraps of paper into his
hat, marked severally 1, 2, 3, and 4. The drawing resulted:
Dawes, 1; Hooe, 2; Hauser, 3; Dill, 4. Much favored by fortune.
Lieutenant Colonel Sweet sent in his resignation to-day. Now
comes a tug of war. Colonel Cutler wants Haskell appointed
Major.”

TUESDAY, JUNE 17th, 1862.

“Colonel Cutler has asked an expression of the officers for
Major. A caucus called for to-night. deserts me and
works for Haskell. O, treachery! Was appointed officer of the
brigade guard, and did not attend the caucus. Final vote:
Haskell, thirteen, Dawes, fourteen.”

WEDNESDAY, JUNE 18th, 1862.

“A very exciting day in the regiment. No report made of the
caucus. It did not come out right. Captain Brown battles for
me like a hero. Haskell told me he should get the appointment
if he could. I told him, I should do the same, as it was my
right in order of rank, and we shook hands over it. Sent my
papers to Bill Vilas. He will give them a hustle if he gets the
papers in time. Major Bragg works hard for me. He says,
‘this attempt to dragoon the officers into over-riding the rights of
captains, will not win.””

Fripay, JUNE 20th, 1862.

“Colonel Cutler, General Gibbon, General King, and, I suppose,
all Madison, Wisconsin, recommend Haskell. Lieutenant
Colonel Sweet, Major Bragg, seven Captains, fourteen
Lieutenants, and three regimental staff officers recommend my
appointment. —— signed a private recommendation for me.*

2 was trying to carry water on both shoulders, and as usual in
such cases, it tipped over and spilled upon him. Colonel Cutler was
an able commander, but not a good politician. It was a blunder to ask for
an expression of preference by the officers, especially when he was already
supported by the solid line of Brigadier Generals.
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SUNDAY, JUNE 22nd, 1862.

“T attended the Episcopal church with my company. Private
Hoel Trumbull ran away from us, but was caught and locked up
in the guard house. He spent a season in meditation. He
thinks, on the whole, the church would have been the lesser evil.

‘Colonel Sweet has received mnotice of the acceptance of his
resignation.”

(Letter.) CAaMP OPPOSITE FREDERICKSBURGH,

Jury 1st, 1862.

“For a week I have been fighting a bilious fever, but now have
the mastery and am rapidly recovering. I have also won another
victory which will please you. I have received a commission as
major and am no more a captain. I sent my papers for presenta-
tion to the Governor of Wisconsin (Edward Salomon) to my
friend, William F. Vilas, at Madison. Vilas writes that he called
at the Governor’s office and sent in word that he wished to see
him in connection with the majorship of the Sixth regiment.”

“The Governor came to the door and said: ‘Mr.Vilas, I do not
wish to hear anything more upon that subject. The friends of
Mr. Haskell have’ already harassed me beyond my patience. I
shall make no appointment until I hear more fully from the
regiment.’

‘Oh! but,” says I, ‘I happen to be on the other side of that
question.” ‘Walk right in Mr. Vilas,’ says he, ‘I am glad to see
you’. I went in and presented your case the best I could, and
have since learned with great pleasure that your commission has
been issued. Accept of my dexter in token of heartiest congrat-
ulation.”

“This promotion comes very fortunately just before active
operations against the enemy, which I doubt not will soon take
place, since Gen. Pope has been sent to command our army.”

When Colonel Cutler assumed command of the brigade,
Haskell went upon his staff. It was an unfortunate step, as it
put entirely out of the line of promotion one of the finest officers
Wisconsin sent to the war. General Gibbon, who was intimately
associated with him, has said that Haskell “was better qualified
to command an army corps than many who enjoyed that honor.”
He continued to serve on staff duty until 1864 when he was
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appointed Colonel of the 36th Wisconsin. He was killed at the
battle of Cold Harbor, while exposing his own life to encourage
his regiment to attack the enemy’s works.

“We hail the coming of General Pope with much satisfaction.
There is a strong feeling among the soldiers against McDowell.
He is considered incompetent, if not disloyal.” ‘This harsh
opinion of General McDowell is only suffered to appear as a
moderate expression of the prejudice existing at that time among
our officers and men against him. This whole question was
considered in the McDowell Court of inquiry; and I make no
effort to explain the cause.

July 4th was celebrated with festivities and merry-making.
Gibbon’s brigade gathered upon a large plain, where there was
horse racing, foot racing, and other amusements and athletic ex-
ercises. ‘There was a great mule race, a sack race, and a greased
pig. Wagon master, William Sears, of our regiment, won the
mule race. The prize in this case was for the mule that got
through last. FEach rider accordingly whipped another’s mule,
holding back his own. Sears rode a balky mule which would
go backward whenever whipped. Captain Hollon Richardson, of
the seventh Wisconsin, won the foot race.

NEAR FREDERICKSBURGH, JULY 10th, 1862.
“I am not near Richmond, nor likely to be. General Pope
is charged with the same old duty of guarding Washington. So
unless the rebels move on Washington, our future presents a
peaceful aspect.”
Camp OPPOSITE FREDERICKSBURGH, JULY 18th, 1862.

“General Pope’s bombastic proclamation has not tended to
increase confidence, indeed the effect is exactly the contrary.
(Pope’s celebrated order, concerning Lines of Retreat, and Bases
of Supply, is here referred to.) For the present, I do not
anticipate that we will move from Fredericksburgh. Should
Stonewall Jackson make another raid, we will likely take the
same tramp in pursuit of him. XKXing’s division with some
detachments under General Doubleday, are now the only troops
here. I think General Pope does not reinforce us here, for fear
of General Jackson in the valley. Of course we feel eager to be
something more than ornamental file-closers. Our regiment has
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been more than a year in the service; and in soldierly bearing,
perfection in drill, and discipline, we do not yield the palm to the
regulars in any service.”

CaMp OpPrPOSITE FREDERICKSBURGH, JULY 28th, 1862.

“We have just got back after a dash toward Orange Court
House. This is one of the fruits of the policy of our new
commander, General Pope. Our boys are growing enthusiastic
in the prospect of a general who has a little life. We left camp
by order of General Pope, on July 2s5th, and marched fifteen
miles on the Gordonsville plank road, to a point where the road
forks. We remained in this position, while other troops made a
raid within five miles of Gordonsville. The rebels are
concentrating in some force at that point, and I think General
Pope will offer battle. If the forces are nearly matched, we will
defeat them. I judge of the Southern army by the character of
the prisoners we have taken, and our division is superior to such
troops. When we were at the front, an old negro slave came in
the middle of the night to our picket line. He said that “Massa
Bullock,” a Lieutenant in the rebel army, was in a house, a mile
away. I took forty men, surrounded the house, and captured
him. He was a fine young scion of a first family of Virginia.
He was not in uniform, and he denied my right to take him as a
soldier. When the darky identified him, he asked me if I would
‘take the word of a nigger.’? But when I proposed that he take
the oath of allegiance,* he said that I might take a horse to water,
but I could not make him drink. So I brought the gentleman in
as a prisoner of war. General Pope’s orders are carried out in
good faith, and, so far as I know, no abuse has been perpetrated.”’t

The colored man who came to our picket line was very old.
I felt suspicious of a trap, and questioned him closely as to his
motives in making such disclosures. He said “Fore God, Massa,
we knows you uns is our friends. Its the Lord’s will, that the
colored folks help you uns.” I told him that if he led us into
an ambush, he would certainly be the first one killed; but
he led the way, audibly praying God to sustain him.

*See Volume XII, Part 1, Page 271, War Records, as to oaths of
allegiance.

TReference to orders concerning foraging.
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From the consolidated morning report of Major General Pope,
July 31st, 1862, the number of men present for duty, in the
ranks of Gibbon’s brigade was 40 companies, 2,664 men. To
this must be added at least 150 for commissioned officers, making
a total of about 2,800 for duty in the brigade. This was just
before engaging in the hard and bloody campaign of forty-five
days, covering the battles of Gainesville and Bull Run Second,
under General Pope, and the battles of South Mountain and
Antietam, in the Maryland campaign. In these operations,
Gibbon’s brigade suffered a loss of 1,592 men killed or wounded,
and by its heroic conduct, acquired the historic title of the “Iron
Brigade;” by whom first applied, I do not know.

THE FREDERICKS HALL RAID.

The regiment left camp opposite Fredericksburgh, at 2 o’clock,
on the morning of August sth, 1862, as a part of an expedition
intended to cut the Virginia Central Railroad. General Gibbon
was in command of the force sent forward for this purpose. He
divided his force, placing Colonel Cutler in command of about
one thousand men.* The troops were without knapsacks, and
stripped for arace. Colonel Cutler marched by the Orange plank
road for several miles, and then turned south, passing by a
narrow road through Spottsylvania Court House. Cutler’s flying
column marched thirty-five miles on this day, one of the very
hottest of the summer. General Gibbon’s force (about 3,000
men) marched on the Telegraph road, running south from
Fredericksburgh. They accomplished fifteen miles. He
discovered that the rebel General, J. E. B. Stuart, was advancing
by the Bowling Green road on his left, with a strong force. All
possibility of General Gibbon’s force surprising the enemy was
gone, and he moved his troops over to the Spottsylvania road, to
cover the retreat of Colonel Cutler’s detachment. Unconscious
of the happenings narrated, our column had reached a place
called Mount Pleasant, fifteen or twenty miles from the
railroad. Here, at eleven. o’clock at night, a courier from
General Gibbon, caught us sound asleep in bivouac, except the

*8ix companies of the Ira Harris cavalry, two guns of Gerrish’s (N. H.)
battery, under Lieutenant Edgell, and 650 of our best men of the Sixth
were present in the ranks.
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proper guards. General Gibbon sent by his courier to Colonel
Cutler, the facts of the situation, and directed him to act
according to his judgment. Colonel Cutler called a midnight
council of the field officers. Besides the Commander, there were
present, Colonel J. Mansfield Davies, Lieutenant Colonel Judson
Kilpatrick, Major H. W. Davies of the cavalry, Lieutenant
Edgell of the artillery, and Lieutenant Colonel E. S. Bragg and
Major R. R. Dawes of the infantry. Colonel Cutler explained
that we were many miles in advance of our supporting colummn,
and that General Stuart, with a force estimated at five thousand
men, was behind us. Before us was the North Anna river, an
unfordable stream, with wooden bridges that could be easily
burned. Seven miles beyond the river was the railroad. The
main force under General Gibbon had abandoned the effort to
reach the railroad. The question was, should we go on and
attempt to destroy the railroad as originally proposed, taking our
chances of peril in front and rear, or should we fall back upon
Gibbon’s force which was waiting for us. Lieutenant Colonels
Kilpatrick and Bragg, argued strongly in favor of going on.*
They urged that this was the safest, as well as the most honorable
course and such was the decision of the council. At the earliest
dawn, the column started for the railroad. The men were given
an intimation of the situation, and told that everything depended
upon their speed. About one hundred and fifty of the foot-sore
and weary men were left at Carl’s bridge, over the North Anna,
under Captain P.W. Plummer, to hold it for our retreat. When we
approached Fredericks Hall station, Kilpatrick charged in with
the cavalry, and cut the telegraph wires, and picketed the roads.
Lieutenant Edgell put his guns in position to cover the retreat,
and our men were kept hard at work for some time, destroying
the railroad track, and the torch was applied to all Confederate
Government and railroad property.f We then hurried back to

*Lieutenant Edward P. Brooks, Acting Adjutant, was present at this
council, and he has written of it, “Bragg, Dawes, and Kilpatrick insisted
on going on.”

tBrooks says: “Burned Government warehouse, several thousand
bushels of corn, fifty hogsheads of tobacco. Found ten barrels of peach
bﬁ*andx, and the men took a supply in their canteens, which refreshed
them.
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get across our wooden bridge. We made a great march upon
that dgy. Private William L. Riley, of Company “I,” made the
following note in his journal: “Part of the regiment left at a
bridge. The rest goes on to Fredericks Hall station, and returns
to Waller’s tavern; about forty miles accomplished in one day.
Big marching for infantry” We tore up about two miles of
railroad track, so says Colonel Cutler.*

On the afternoon of August gth, 1862, an order was received
by telegraph directing that King’s division should join General
Pope at Cedar Mountain which was forty-five miles distant.
On this day was fought the bloody battle of Cedar Mountain
between Stonewall Jackson’s corps and our troops under command
of General N. P. Banks. On the early morning of August 1oth
we left the old camp opposite Fredericksburgh, never to return.
The regiment marched twenty-one miles that day and on the
evening of the 11th arrived near the scene of Cedar Mountain
battle. General Jackson’s army had retreated beyond the Rapidan.
On this evening my contraband, whom I had employed in place
of Jake, also deserted me. He smelled the battle from
afar and “done got out.” Sergeant Howard F.Pruyn of company
“A” had in his employ a bright little yellow boy who had
attracted my notice. The Sergeant could not keep a servant
while on the march. I asked him if he thought this boy could
do my work. He said he was a good and willing boy, but that
he did not know anything and could not do my work. I was
not in a position to be exacting, so I took him on trial. His
name, William Jackson, will appear often in the after pages. A
more excellent servant or a more faithful friend than he proved
throughout the remainder of my service in the war could scarcely
have been found.

*General Gibbon says in his official report of this affair: “I can not refer
in too high terms, to the conduct of Colonel Cutler. To his energy and
good judgment, seconded as he was by his fine regiment, the success of
the expedition is entirely due.” In Colonel Cutler’s official report, occur
these words: “I wish especially to notice Lieutenant Colonel Kilpatrick,
and Major Davies of the cavalry, and Major Dawes of the infantry, for the
prompt and efficient manner, in which they caused all my orders to be
executed, also for the very valuable suggestions I received from them.”
See report Brigadier General Rufus King, Page 121, Volume XII, Series 1,
Official Records of the War. Brigadier General John Gibbon, Page 122,
Volume XII, Series 1, Official Records of the War. Colonel Lysander
Cutler, Page 123, Volume X1I1I, Series 1, Official Records of the War.
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We were now encamped directly upon the battle ground of
Cedar Mountain, where we remained for a week. We were
obliged to bury many of the rebel dead whose corpses, left half
buried upon the field, were intolerable. ‘This was our first contact
with one of the real horrors of war. Private Riley’s journal
mentions the fact that while we were in this camp, there was a
roll-call every two hours, which, he says was a “new wrinkle.”
The object was of course to keep the men at hand for action, as
we were in the presence of a largely superior force of the enemy.
On the 19th day of August, we began our retreat before the
advancing army of General Lee. We marched back fifteen
miles toward the Rappahannock and camped that night five miles
from the river. On the early morning of August 20th, we
resumed our northward march. Riley says that his company “I,”
under Captain Kellogg, was sent to build a bridge across the river
above the railroad station and that they worked all night, com-
pleting their bridge at daylight.

On the 20th day of August, our regiment crossed the
Rappahannock, at the crossing of the Orange and Alexandria
Railroad. We encamped a mile from the bridge. On the
afternoon of that day, cavalry of the enemy appeared on the
opposite bank of the river. By the clouds of dust rising on all
the roads, we could trace the advance of the rebel army. On the
morning of the 21st of August, the enemy opened fire on our
troops from a battery of artillery, about.a mile above the bridge,
the first artillery we had ever heard in actual battle. One of our
batteries wheeled into position on a gallop, cheered by the
excited shouts of our men, and was admirably served in reply.
Private William Riley says of this artillery duel, which was
witnessed with great interest by our novices: “Our battery got
the better of them in a few shots, showing a better practice, and
more accurate shooting. Our shells burst close to their guns,
while the enemy fired wide of their mark.” Gibbon’s brigade
was ordered to the right of King’s division, and we marched
along in the rear of the batteries, now all placed in order of
battle to fire upon the enemy. As we came into range of the
enemy’s battery, they turned their fire full upon the sixth
Wisconsin. ‘This was our initiation. ‘The shell whizzed and
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burst over us and around us. The men marched steadily, keeping
their places, and holding their heads high. They soon
learned that a discreet and respectful obeisance to a cannon ball
is no indication of cowardice.

When our brigade had taken position, six companies of our
regiment were ordered forward to cover the brigade front, and to
advance as skirmishers to the river. Lieutenant Colonel Bragg
was in command of these companies, I was second. General
Patrick’s brigade skirmish line, next on our left, was ordered to
join us, and be governed by our movement. But Patrick’s line:
did not wait, and Colonel Bragg, seeing Patrick’s skirmishers
advancing, ordered the right of his own line forward, before-our
deployment on the left was completed. By this accident, company
“E,” under Captain Edwin A. Brown, was switched off, and lost
from the line, and no connection was nmade with General Patrick’s
skirmishers. Our line also swung away from the proper front,
and in place of advancing toward the river, we gradually changed
to moving up parallel with the river, opening at every step, the
gap between us and General Patrick’s skirmishers. The thick
woods concealed all from our view. After passing through the
woods, we came upon a body of cavalry with blue overcoats. I
galloped up to the officer in command and asked him if he had
seen any rebels. He said, “Yes, Sir, plenty of them,—just in
that point of woods, not five minutes ago.” So we pushed on pell
mell across an open field toward “that point of woods.” Sharp
musketry skirmishing broke out directly behind us. It was
Captain Brown with our lost company “E,” and Lieutenant
Charles P. Hyatt, with a platoon of company “B,” gallantly
driving this rebel cavalry, for such it was, across the river. But
we had been sent on a fool’s errand by a rebel company, who
were dressed in Union blue overcoats. Brown’s and Hyatt’s
men killed and wounded several of the enemy, and captured a
Lieutenant and two private soldiers. These officers and their
men won the first glory for the sixth Wisconsin on the field
of actual battle. Thé interpretation of our movements by
Private William L. Riley is amusing. He says, “Went up the
river to reconnoitre fords.” .

Toward night our regiment was ordered to advance nearer the
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river. The rebels saw the movement, and opened fire upon us
with a battery of artillery. Colonel Cutler halted, established
guides, and aligned forward into the position assigned before he
would allow the men to lie down. He said “you must get used
to it.” Fortunately the rebels were poor artillerists and did not
hit us, so nobody was hurt. We learned to “lie down” in battle,
later in our experience, without waiting . to establish guides. In
this new position, we were under a heavy artillery fire. During
an interval, Colonel Cutler brought up his colored servant, an
excellent cook, to make a pot of hot coffee, which he invited me
to share with him, but, just as we sat down to enjoy our feast,
the coffee-pot was knocked from the fire at least twenty feet in
the air by a rebel shell. The darky, not stopping for his coffee-pot,
left the field at the speed of a race horse. Our experiences the
first day under fire, as we lost no men, were really valuable in
showing the men, that artillery fire was not so dangerous as they
had anticipated. During the next two days we were subjected
by the rebels to, what I call in my journal, ‘“several good
shellings.”

On August 23rd, we marched to the village of Warrenton.
The rebel troops, judging from the clouds of dust which we
could see beyond the 'river, were moving also. We marched to
the Rappahannock at Warrenton Sulphur Springs, where we
supported a battery, and were under fire of artillery nearly all
day of August 26th.* At the Sulphur Springs, on August z7th,
we were ordered to march with the utmost haste back to
Centreville. The enemy was in great force between us and
Washington, (Stonewall Jackson’s corps.f) As we marched

*On this day, Lieutenant Edward P. Brooks, our Acting Adjutant, was
ordered to report to General Pope, to act as guide to the columns of troops
from the Army of the Potomac. He guiged General Philip Kearney’s
division, and rendered other service 8o excellent in character, that General
Pope gave him letters of the highest commendation.

TLieutenant Arthur C. Ellis, of Company “B,” himself disabled from
marching, was with the wagon train of our brigade at Manassas Junction,
when the cavalry of General J. E. B. Stuart reached there. Our
brigade park of twenty-one wagons, was a short distance from the
headquarters wagon train of General Pope. General Pope’s wagons, and
all others in the vicinity, excepting those of our brigade, were captured
and destroyed by Stuart’s cavalry. But Lieutenant Ellis rallied the
crippled and sick men from our brigade, and directing them to lie on the

-
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through Warrenton, wagon-loads of hard tack and pork were
being destroyed, but the emergency seemed to be considered so
great that the troops were not allowed to halt and fill their
nearly empty haversacks, and some of our men were marching
hungry. Time would have been gained by stopping a few
moments to eat. We passed through New Baltimore and
camped for the night near Buckland’s Mills. Before daylight on
August 28th, we were again on the march. About the middle of
the forenoon, we halted for some time in the road near Gainesville.
Quite a large body of rebel prisoners passed us here. Artillery
fire was heard toward the Bull Run battle field. We pushed on
for two miles, when we turned off from the turnpike into a piece
of timber on the right hand side of the road. Iere we remained
until four o’clock in the afternoon. Beef was killed, and a ration
issued. About this hour, General McDowell, according to his
own testimony, became convinced that the troops who had been
firing on our men, ‘“were a small reconnoitering party, not
worthy of mention to the Commanding General,” and he ordered
King’s division to march on the turnpike to Centreviile. General
McDowell himself then left his corps, aud having, he says,
“important business with General Pope,” he went to find that
General and in the search became “lost in the woods.” He
remained lost in the woods during the entire night.

General Stonewall Jackson, at that very hour, was forming
a column of eighteen thousand men along the Warrenton
turnpike to attack General McDowell, and this force was scarcely
two miles away. After watching our extraordinary movements
for a season, Jackson says: “By this time it was sunset. * * * T
determined to attack at once, which was vigorously done by the
divisions of Taliaferro and Ewell” (six brigades). ’This attack,
it will be seen, struck the second Wisconsin and nineteenth
Indiana regiments. ;

Our division moved, as ordered, back to the turnpike and then
along the turnpike toward Centreville, first, Hatch’s brigade:
second, Gibbon’s; third, Doubleday’s; fourth, Patrick’s.
ground under the wagons, successfully defended, and saved from capture
our train. The attack upon them was made at midnight. It was a very
gallant deed, and of especial value to us, as all of our papers and much

property were with the wagons.
.
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THE BATTLE OF GAINESVILLE.

General Hatch, in advance, sent the 14th Brooklyn regiment
as advance guard and flankers. I remember seeing the line of
their red legs on the green slope of the same hill from which the
enemy fired upon us, but they discovered no emnemy. Our
brigade moved along the turnpike on that quiet summer evening
as unsuspectingly as if changing camp. Suddenly the stillness
was broken by six cannon shots fired in rapid succession by a
rebel battery, point blank at our regiment. The shell passed
over the heads of our men, and burst in the woods beyond.
Surprise is no sufficient word for our astonishment, but the
reverberation had not died away when gallant old Colonel
Cutler’s familiar voice rang out sharp and loud, ‘“Battalion, halt]!
Front! Load at will! Load!” ‘The men fairly jumped in their
eagerness, and the iron ramrods were jingling, when—*“Bang!
Bang!” went the rebel cannon again. Again they overshot our
men, but a poor horse was knocked over and over against the
turnpike fence. “Lie down !” shouted Colonel Cutler.
Fortunately a little bank along the roadside gave us good cover.
Battery “B,” 4th U. S. artillery, now came down the turnpike
on a gallop. Quickly tearing away the fence, they wheeled
into position in the open field, and the loud crack of their brass
twelve pounders echoed the rebel cannon. Thus opened our
first real battle. General Gibbon ordered the 2nd Wisconsin and
19th Indiana regiments to move forward upon the enemy. This
attack of General Gibbon was made upon the theory that a
comparatively small force of the enemy was present. (See
reports of Gibbon and Doubleday.) No sooner had the 2nd
Wisconsin shown its line in the open field, than there burst
upon them a flame of musketry, while Confederate batteries
distributed along about a mile of front opened with shell and
and round shot. Under this terrible fire the second was obliged
to change front before they could return a shot. We could not
see them nor the 19th Indiana, owing to the intervening woods,
but we heard the awful crash of musketry, and we knew there
was serious work ahead. Captain J. D. Wood, of Gibbon’s staff,
came galloping down the turnpike with an order for the sixth to
move forward into action. “Forward, guide centre,” ordered the
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Colonel. The word here ran down the line from a remark
of Captain Wood’s, that the second was being slanghtered, and
when Colonel Cutler shouted “March,” every man scrambled up
the bank and over the fence, in the face of shot and shell, with
something the feeling that one would hurry to save a friend
from peril. My horse partook of the fierce excitement, and ran
up the bank and leaped a fence like a squirrel. I could now see
the men of the second Wisconsin. They were under the
concentrated fire of at least six times their own number of the
enemy. Our regiment, five hundred and four men in ranks,
pushed forward rapidly in perfect line of battle, field officers and
Adjutant E. P. Brooks mounted and in their places, and colors
advanced and flying in the breeze. Colonel Cutler was on a
large dark bay, well known to all the men as “Old Prince.”
Colonel Bragg rode a pure white horse ofhigh mettle, which was
skittish and unmanageable. My own sturdy old mare was
always steady under fire.

The regiment advanced without firing a shot, making a
half wheel to the left in line of battle as accurately as if on the
drill ground. Through the battle smoke into which we were
advancing, I could see a blood red sun, sinking behind the hills.
I can not account for our immunity from the fire of the enemy
while on this advance. When at a short range, Colonel Cutler
ordered the regiment to halt and fire. The seventh Wisconsin
now came forward and passed into the ranks of the second
Wisconsin. Our united fire did great execution. It seemed to
throw the rebels into complete confusion, and they fell back into
the woods behind them. We now gave a loud and jubiiant cheer
throughout the whole line of our brigade. Our regiment was on
low ground which, in the gathering darkness, gave us great
advantage over the enemy, as they overshot our line. The other
three regiments of the brigade were on higher ground than the
enemy. There was space enough vacant between our regiment
and the others for a thousand men. = Colonel Cutler sat upon his
horse near the colors at the center of the regiment. Lieut. Colonel
Bragg was on the right and, being myself upon the left, I was in
good position to observe the progress of the battle. It was quite
dark when the enemy’s yelling columns again came forward, and
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they came with a rush. Our men on the left loaded and
fired with the energy of madmen, ‘and the sixth worked with an
equal desperation, This stopped the rush of the enemy, and
they halted and fired upon us their deadly musketry. During a
few awful moments, I could see by the lurid light of the powder
flashes, the whole of both lines. I saw a rebel mounted officer
shot from his horse at the very front of their battle line. It was
evident that we were being overpowered and that our men were
giving ground. The two crowds, they could hardly be called
lines, were within, it seemed to me, fifty yards of each other,
and they were pouring musketry into each other as rapidly as
men could load and shoot. Two of General Doubleday’s
regiments (56th Pennsylvania and 76th New York,) now came
suddenly into the gap on the left of our regiment, and they fired
a crashing volley. Hurrah! They have come at the very nick
of time. The low ground saved our regiment, as the enemy
overshot us in the darkness. Men were falling in the sixth, but
our loss was small compared to that suffered by the regiments on
the left. I rode along our line and when near Colonel Cutler, he
said, “Our men are giving ground on the left, Major.” “Yes,
Sir,” said I. I heard a distinct sound of the blow that struck
him. He gave a convulsive start and clapped his hand on his
leg, but he controlled his voice. He said, “Tell Colonel Bragg
to take command, I am shot.” Almost at the same time “Old
Prince” was shot; but he carried his master safely from the
field. I rode quickly to Lieut. Colonel Bragg and he at once took
command of the regiment. There was cheering along our
line and it was again standing firmly. General Doubleday’s two
regiments by their opportune arrival and gallant work, aided
much in turning the battle in our favor. ‘The “Little Colonel”
(Bragg,) always eager to push forward in a fight, advanced the
regiment several rods. But soon the enemy came on again just
as before, and our men on the left could be seen on the hill, in
the infernal light of the powder flashes, struggling as furiously as
ever. I could distinctly see Lieut. Colonel Fairchild, of the second
Waisconsin and Lieut. Colonel Hamilton of the seventh Wisconsin,
and otherofficerswhom I recognized, working among and cheering
up their men. Men who had been shot were streaming back
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from along the whole line. Our regiment was suffering more
severely than it had been; but, favored by the low ground,
we kept up a steady, rapid, and well aimed fire. As I galloped
backward and forward along the line, my horse encountered
ditches. Excited by the firing, cheering, and whizzing of the
rebel shells, she would squat and jump a long distance in crossing
them. How long our men withstood this last attack, I can not
estimate, but, in the history of war, it is doubtful whether there
was ever more stubborn courage than was displayed by the
second and seventh Wisconsin and nineteenth Indiana regiments,
on this field of battle. The only reason why I speak less of the
19th Indiana regiment is because I could not see them so
distinctly. Our line on the left gradually fell back. It did not
break but slowly gave ground, firing as savagely as ever. The
rebels did not advance. Colonel Bragg directed our regiment to
move by a backward step, keeping up our fire and keeping on a
line with our brigade. But one of the companies of the right
wing (“C”) became broken by the men marching backward into
a ditch. Colonel Bragg halted the regiment to enable them to
reform their line, and upon this ground we stood until the enemy
ceased firing. The other regiments of the brigade fell back to
the turnpike. After an interval of quiet, Colonel Bragg called
upon the regiment to give three cheers. No response of any
kind was given by the enemy. It was now about nine o’clock,
and the night was very dark. Feeling assured the battle was
over, measures then were taken to secure the burial of our
eight dead men, and to hunt up our sixty-one wounded. Three
men were missing.* The regiment moved back by the left of
companies and formed in the edge of the piece of woods. By
direction of the Colonel, I rode toward the left to ascertain the
location of our other troops. I came suddenly in the darkness
uponn a marching column. Fortunately, I kept still and soon
discovered myself to be by the side of a rebel regiment. I rode
quietly along for a short distance with them and turned off into
the darkness unheeded. General Gibbon directed us to remain

*One of our best officers, Lieutenant Jerome B. Johnson, of Company
“E,” was found severely wounded. Surgeon A. J. Ward, of the second
Wisconsin, remained with our wounded men.
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where we were. ‘The enemy, a short distance away, was caring
for their wounded and burying their dead. We could hear their
conversation, but ordered our picket line not to fire or in any
way to disclose our proximity.

About half past twelve o’clock at night we marched back
through the woods to the ‘turnpike. Painful to relate, to this
woods many of our wounded had gone when shot in the battle.
They were now scattered about under its dark shadows, suffering
and groaning and some were dying. In the pitchy darkness we
stumbled upon them. This was the battle for which we had so
long been yearning. On the turnpike we found hasty preparations
for retreat and at about one o’clock A. M. we silently filed away
in the darkness, muffling the rattling tin cups, and turning our
course toward Manassas Junction. As major I rode at the rear
of our regiment. Presently there sifted out from the marching
column numbers of wounded men, who were struggling to keep
with their comrades and to avoid falling into the hands of the
enemy.* I saw Captain John F. Marsh, who had been shot in
the knee, drop to the rear, and dismounting from my horse, I
lifted him to the saddle, marching through on foot myself. My
steady old mare did the service of a good Samaritan. Fach
stirrup strap and even her tail were an aid to help along the weak
and weary. The cry at such times is for water, water. There
was none left in the canteens. But we deemed ourselves very
fortunate. We had lost 72 from our 504 men in battle. But the
second Wisconsin! 298 men of ithe splendid second Wisconsin
had been killed or wounded in the fight and they had taken not
more than 500 men into action. The 7th Wisconsin and the 1gth
Indiana had suffered in almost the same terrible proportion. Of
twelve field officers in the brigade, but four remained for duty,
and two of them were of our regiment. The second Wisconsin
regiment had been almost mortally wounded. Never afterward
could be filled the plaees of such soldiers as went down at Gaines-
ville. For free and easy movement, combined with exact

*A second Wisconsin man, E. 8, Williams, whose leg was later amputated,
in some manner crawled over that nine miles, and another man of that
regiment, Hugh Lewis, went over the road on that fearful night, to have
his arm amputated in the morning.
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precision and perfect time, that battalion had a little surpassed us
all on the brigade drill ground. The elan of the old second
Wisconsin could not be excelled.. It has passed into the history
of our country, as the regiment which had the largest number of
men killed in battle, in proportion fo its numbers, of any regiment
engaged in the war for the Union. Gainesville contributed much
to this unequalled list of dead upon the field of glory. But the
weary and dreadful lists of battle casualties can not be repeated
here, they must be looked for upon the official records of the war.
About daylight we reached our bivouac near Manassas and flung
ourselves exhausted upon the ground for rest.

Leaving the tired brigade in its heavy slumber, we may con-
sider briefly the Battle of Gainesville.

The cold figures speak for the battle power shown by our
glorious brigade, more eloquently than language can express.
Stonewall Jackson sent into action six brigades of infantry and
three batteries of artillery. “The brigades were: Trimble’s,
Lawton’s and Early’s of Ewell’s division, and Starke’s, Baylor’s,
and Taliaferro’s, of the Stonewall division, thirty regiments of
infantry, at least eight thousand men. The batteries in action
were, Wooding’s, Pogue’s, and Carpenter’s. OQur force engaged
could not have exceeded three thousand men. The officially
reported loss of Ewell’s division was seven hundred and fifty-
nine* The loss of the Stonewall division was not less.
Gibbon’s brigade lost seven hundred and fifty-four and
General Rufus King has testified that the entire loss of our six
regiments and one batteryt engaged, was one thousand men. It
is now made quite certain by the Confederate Official Records
that our troops inflicted upon them a loss of fifteen hundred men.
This is reasonably explained by the fact that the Confederate
force twice advanced in columns of attack. Our men stuck
desperately and persistently to one deployed line, from which
they delivered a steady and well aimed fire. At the time of the
hottest firing, the troops were stationed approximately as shown
in the diagram given. The Confederate brigades are arranged

*See Page 813, Volume 12, Part II, War Records.
1“B,” 4th U. 8. artillery.
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in the order that seems to be indicated by their own official
reports. I have not attempted to locate their artillery.
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I do not feel that our army commander, General Pope, has in
his official statements of this battle, done justice to our troops
engaged. I much prefer the more worthy tributes from the
Generals who were opposed to us upon that bloody field. The
Confederate General, T. J. Jackson, says in his official report in
regard to this battle: ‘“The conflict was fierce and sanguinary.
The federals did not attempt to advance, but maintained their
ground with obstinate determination. Both lines stood exposed
to the discharge of musketry and artillery until about nine
o’clock, when the enemy slowly retired, yielding the field to our
troops. ‘The loss on both sides was heavy and among our
wounded were Major General Ewell and Brigadier General
Taliaferro.”

The Confederate General, William B. Taliaferro, who com-
manded Jackson’s old division, three brigades in the battle, says
in his official report: “Here one of the most terrific contests that
can be conceived occurred. The enemy never once attempted to
advance upon our position, but withstood with great
determination the terrible fire which our lines poured upon them.
For two hours and a half, without an instant’s cessation of the
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most deadly discharges of musketry, round shot and shell, both
lines stood unmoved, neither advancing and neither broken nor
yielding, until at last, about nine o’clock at night, the enemy
slowly and sullenly fell back and yielded to our victorious
troops.”’*

General John F. Reynolds says, “After the firing ceased I saw
General King, who defermined to maintain his position.t 1 left
about g o’clock P. M., to return to my division, promising to
bring it up early in the morning to his support.”’f General
Reynolds commanded the Pennsylvania Reserve division, twenty-
five hundred of the best possible quality of veteran soldiers.
But a Council of War was afterward held by the Generals of
King’s division. The old adage was again verified that “A
Council of War never fights.” General King has written as
follows: ‘“Then came the question, what next to be done. The
enemy in greatly superior force barred the way in which the
division was marching. The only alternative was to deflect to
the right to join the bulk of Pope’s army in the vicinity of
Manassas.” It seems however that the bulk of Pope’s army
was not then at Manassas. T‘his movement was an abandonment
of the ground we held between Lee’s army and Jackson’s isolated
corps. Brigadier General Gibbon, who so gallantly attacked the
enemy with his single brigade, says in his own official report:
“I sent repeated and earnest requests to Division headquarters
(General King) for assistance.” “I sent repeatedly and urgently
to Generals King, Doubleday and Patrick for assistance, but the
two regiments of Doubleday’s brigade was the only assistance
furnished me.” General Doubleday sent his two regiments
however, to assist Gibbon, without orders to do so from General
King. He says in his report: ‘“Receiving no orders, and unable

*In Volume XII, Series 1, Part 1[, War Records, may be found official
reports of the battle of Gainesville.

Brigadier General John Gibbon,......c.c ceveveee eree corerennene Pages 377 and 879.
LetterofvGeneral Gibboms i raln it s St N LS St iR Page 380.
Report Lieutenant Colonel E. 8. Bragg oo ST3BOK
“ General A. Doubleday,......... .. “ 369,
5 S Ik B Hatelke 2 SRS 6T
BN QAR ITOR e oon som s i o s e S e R o P Sb e o2 e e AT “ 380.

tGolden words for General King.
{Page 393, Volume XJI, Series I, Part 1I, War Records.
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to obtain them, I almost immediately sent two regiments of my
brigade, the 56th Pennsylvania, under Colonel S. A. Meredith,
and the 76th New York under Colonel W. P. Wainwright, to aid
Gibbon. Knowing he would be overpowered if not succored, I
immgdiately complied with his earnest request and sent him the
two regiments referred to, leaving myself but one regiment (95th
New York) in reserve.” General Gibbon says: “Patrick’s
brigade remained immovable and did not fire a shot,” and he
says also, “No superior general officer was in the vicinity with
the requisite knowledge and authority to order up troops to our
support.”

I have searched the official records in vain for further
explanation of the management of this battle. Our Corps
Commander, General McDowell, had no part in the affair, for he
was “lost in the woods.” '

What a painful contrast is presented in the records of the
Generals of the enemy. The rebel Corps Commander, Stonewall
Jackson, conducted the battle in person. Two rebel Generals of
Division were shot in the fight, (Ewell and Taliaterro). Jackson
had exact knowledge of the field, a clear purpose, concentrated
action by his troops, and his Generals led their men to battle.
On the afternoon of this day, August 28th, 1862, was lost the
only opportunity that occurred in that campaign to attack
Jackson with superior forces while separated from ILee. The
verdict of history is likely to be, that the opportunity was “lost
in the woods.”* ~

The best blood of Wisconsin and Indiana was poured out
like water, and it was spilled for naught. Against a dark
background of blunders, imbecilities, jealousies and disasters in
the Pope campaign, stands in bright relief the gallant conduct of
our heroic leader, John Gibbon. Whatever history may do for
others, his fame is as safe as that of the faithful and gallant heroes
of the brigade he commanded.

But let us now return to our sleeping brigade at Manassas. A

*See Pages 32810 331, Volume XII, Part 1, War Records. The McDowell
Court of Inquiry. “The court finds that he, (McDowell) separated himself
from his command at a critical time, without any orders from his superior
officer and without any imperative necessity.”
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fresh beef ration has been issued and hot coffee has been made,
and at nine o’clock all are listening to the sounds of battle that
come from the old Bull Run field. Thereis a heavy sound of
cannon and an occasional ripple of musketry. We were near the
railroad track, which branches off at Manassas Junction. I was
myself aroused from a sleep by the heavy tramp of hurrying feet.
I arose to see the corps of Gemneral Fitz John Porter passing by
us toward the battle field. At the time they were passing, the
cannon were roaring so loudly that the men fully believed they
were marching directly to battle. They appeared fresh and in
good spirits and the corps was a remarkably fine body of troops.
The men marched rapidly, appeared to be well fed, and there was
a great contrast between them and our own exhausted troops.
As things are in a battle campaign they were in excellent con-
dition. They showed quite a contempt for us as of “Pope’s army.”
They said: “We are going up to show you ‘straw feet’ how to
fight.” The lesson did not prove to be impressive. All through
the ranks of Porter’s Corps was a running fire of disparagement
of us as “Pope’s ”’ soldiers, something quite inferior to the Army
of the Potomac. Of course our men retorted. There was one
regiment of Zouaves with baggy trousers (Duryea’s I think). I
remember one of our men said: “Wait till you get where we
have been. You'll get the slack taken out of your pantaloons
and the swell out of your heads.”

We remained until some time in the afternoon when we marched
back toward the field of battle where a heavy engagement
seemed to be in progress. We moved along the Manassas Gap
Railroad and turned on to the road to Sudley Springs. As we
marched up to the battle field that afternoon, we could see heavy
clouds of dust stretching away toward Thoroughfare Gap. This
of course was caused by the advancing army of General Lee, but
it was interpreted to us at the time as indicating that Jackson
was retreating to join Lee. Private Riley states in his journal:
“Upon our arrival at the Warrenton turnpike, General McDowell,
who sat upon his horse by the road side, said, ‘We have been
driving the enemy all day.’” Riley also says in his journal that
General McDowell used this language: “Give him a good poke,
boys. He is getting sick,” meaning the enemy. General
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McDowell wore a peculiarly shaped cap at this time which was
commented upon by the men.

King’s division was formed in two lines of battle in a large
open field, but Gibbon’s brigade was detached and ordered away,
and we marched toward the right, nearly a mile and a half. We
went into position in support of batteries of artillery, relieving
troops who marched toward the front. It was about sunset.
King’s division, excepting ourselves, had become involved in a
very sharp battle with the enemy. Listening to this musketry,
we deemed ourselves exceedingly fortunate to have escaped a
fight. Our one night’s experience at Gainesville had eradicated
our yearning for a fight. In our future history we will always
be found ready but never again anxious.

A few artillery shots from the enemy whistled over us, but we
soon fell into a profound and much needed slumber.

BATTLE OF BUuLL RUN SECOND.

The sun rose clear on the morning of August 3oth, 1862, and
during the forenoon the troops of our army were moving quietly
into position. From our hill we had an excellent view of the
field. The whole of our army was spread before us, but inter-
vening timber hid the enemy from our sight. ‘The drift of talk
was that the rebels were falling back. About three o’clock in
the afternoon, we were ordered forward to “pursue the enemy.”
We marched on the Warrenton turnpike, perhaps half a mile,
when our brigade was formed into two lines of battle in an open
field on the right hand side. General Patrick’s brigade was in
front of us, formed also in two lines of battle. We had thus at
our point of attack four lines of battle. Before us was woods,
beyond which a railroad embankment. Behind this embankment
quietly awaiting the attack were our antagonists at Gainesville,
the veteran army corps of Stonewall Jackson. Just before we
entered the edge of the woods, our brigade was changed to one
line of battle with the sixth Wisconsin on the right. As the
troops entered the woods a very heavy artillery fire broke out
upon our left, (Longstreet’s). Musketry opened in our front.
Bullets, canister, shell, and the men said, “ scraps of railroad
iron,” tore through the limbs and brush over us and around us.
We pushed on, advancing as the lines in front of us advanced
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and lying down on the ground when they stopped. There was
no order to charge upon the enemy, and we wondered why
such orders were mnot given. Thus we slowly advanced.
Suddenly, the lines in our front broke and tlie men ran back in
great disorder. The rebels raised a tremendous shout, and
poured in a heavy fire of musketry. The sharp artillery fire of
the enemy which enfiladed our line, added to the panic and
confusion. Colonel Bragg shouted, “Sixth Wisconsin, kneel
down! Captains, keep your men down! ILet nobody tramp on
them!” General Gibbon himself came running up on foot with
his revolver drawn, shouting, ‘Stop those stragglers!-—Make
them fall in!—Shoot them if they don’t!” It was a new
experience, but we were not swept away. QOur men were down
with bayonets set, when the fugitives began to swarm upon them.
All the officers were struggling to stop stragglers and force them
to join our ranks. Many were held with us, but no Union troops
were left in front of us. General Gibbon directed Colonel Bragg
to throw forward a company as skirmishers. This was a fearful
duty. Colonel Bragg called for my old company “K.”

“Who faltered or shivered ?

Who shunned battle stroke ?

Whose fire was uncertain ?

Whose battle line broke ?

Go ask it of history,

Years from to-day,

And the record shall tell you,

Not ‘company K.” .

The boys immediately sprang up under command of Captain
David L. Quaw, and deployed forward upon a run. We could
see them firing and dodging from tree to tree. They met a rebel
skirmish line coming forward through the woods, and they drove
it back upon the rebel line of battle. The spirit and conduct of
company “K” was beyond. praise. The panic and retreat of our
own troops and the exultant shouts of thousands of rebel soldiers
did not daunt these men. Captain Quaw says that “after the
rebel skirmishers retreated, there arose up from behind a
railroad bank, a mass of rebel soldiers several ranks deep. I
shouted to my men to ‘tree’ I jumped behind a small tree
myself, where I must have shrunk to the dimensions of a wafer.
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A dozen bullets hit that tree. I did not wait for the rebels to
fire again, but ordered the men back to the regiment.”

All the troops that had been in the woods, except the sixth
Wisconsin, had now retreated and gone to the rear. Brigadier
General John Gibbon, be it ever remembered to his honor, re-
mained with our regiment. He said he had received no orders to
retreat and he should stay until he got them. The regiment was
now lying on the ground, subjected to a fire from rebel sharp-shoot-
ers and quite a number of our men were killed or wounded by them.
A bullet would strike a man who would writhe, groan and die or
spring up, throw away his impediments and start for the rear.
Our men peered through the leaves, shooting at the puffs of
powder smoke from the muskets of the rebels. As I walked
along the line, some men of company “I” said: “Major, don’t go
near that tree.” I was not aware what tree, but had wit enough
to jump away. Spat, went a bullet against a tree, cutting a
corner from my haversack. They had noticed that the tree had
been several times struck by the bullets of a sharp shooter. A
soldier of a New York regiment lay wounded in front of our
line. He begged piteously for water and for help. First
Sergeant, Charles Lampe, of company “F” went to give him a
swallow from his canteen and was himself shot dead by the
merciless bullet of the sharp-shooter. Private William Bickel-
haupt, of company “F,” had been shot through the body, and I
heard the poor little boy, for such he was, in plaintive broken
English telling his comrades what to write to his “Mutter.”

It now being evident that no staff officer could bring us orders
of any kind, General Gibbon directed Colonel Bragg to form a
line of skirmishers to cover the retreat of the regiment, and to
move to the rear. The skirmishers were quickly deployed and
Colonel Bragg ordered the regiment to face about and march
back. But the rebels redoubled their fire, killing and wounding
quite a number of our men. Bragg immediately ordered the
regiment to face to the front. Our skirmishers were hotly
engaged with the enemy. By a slow backward step, we moved
out of the woods. Upon reaching the open ground, Colonel
Bragg faced the regiment by the rear rank and took a steady
double quick. It was full three quarters of a mile over the open
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fields to the place where our new lines were forming. The sixth
Wisconsin regiment alone upon the plain, in full sight of both
armies, marched this distance. General Rufus King in describing
this scene says: ‘“The sixth Wisconsin, the very last to retire,
marched slowly and steadily to the rear, with column formed and
colors flying, faced the front as they reached their new position,
and saluted the approaching enemy with three cheers and a
rattling volley.” General King is in error as to the volley. We
should have killed our following skirmish line by such firing.
The regiment was ordered into position in support of battery
“B,” 4th U. S. artillery. We were on a high point, commanding
the Warrenton turnpike and the open fields over which we
had retreated. Just as the line was being formed, a solid shot
cut off the tail of a fine bay horse ridden by Lieutenant James
Stewart, of battery “B.” #*The shot gave the horse a deep cut
across the rump, the scar of which lasted his life-time. The
horse’s tail flew into the faces of men of our regiment, switching
them severely.

It was now late in the afterncon. The rebels (Longstreet’s
corps) directed ‘a heavy fire of artillery on us, and began a
general advance of their infantry toward our left. We could see
regiment after regiment of the enemy moving in column by
division, and forming into line of battle as they advanced upon
our men. From the point where we lay upon the ground, the
view of the battle was extensive. Our batteries were all actively
firing upon the advancing columns of the enemy. ‘Their artillery
was also in action. The solid shot and shell struck around us
and whizzed over us. Occasionally a <ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>